DEVELOPMENTAL SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN ADULT ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS

by

Patrick Antonellis

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



Department of Biology at IUPUI Indianapolis, Indiana August 2021

THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

Dr. Nicolas Berbari, Chair

Department of Biology

Dr. A.J. Baucum

Department of Biology

Dr. Benjamin Perrin

Department of Biology

Dr. Andrew Adams

Eli Lilly and Company

Approved by:

Dr. Theodore R. Cummins

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF F	IGURES	. 6
ABSTRAC	Т	. 7
CHAPTER	1. INTRODUCTION	. 8
1.1 The	FGF pathway	. 8
1.1.1	FGF Signaling in development	. 8
1.1.2	The endocrine FGFs: Regulation of adult metabolism	10
1.2 The	WNT signaling pathway	12
1.2.1	WNT Signaling in development	12
1.2.2	WNT signaling in adult tissues and disease	14
1.3 WN	JT and Hh similarities	15
1.3.1	Signal transduction	15
1.4 Pro	genitor cells and cancer	15
1.4.1	Regulation of metabolic tissues in the adult by Wnt and Hh	17
1.5 Cili	a signaling and obesity	18
1.5.1	Ciliopathy syndromes and obesity	18
1.5.2	Cilia in the central nervous system and feeding behavior	21
1.5.3	Neuronal cilia GPCRs and obesity	22
1.5.4	Cilia in peripheral tissues and metabolic phenotypes	23
1.5.5	Cilia in adipose tissue	24
1.5.6	Cilia in the pancreas	26
1.6 Ref	erences	26
CHAPTER	2. THE ANTI-OBESITY EFFECT OF FGF19 DOES NOT REQUIRE UCP	'1-
DEPENDE	ENT THERMOGENESIS	45
2.1 Abs	stract	45
2.1.1	Objective	45
2.1.2	Methods	45
2.1.3	Results	45
2.1.4	Conclusion	46
2.2 Intr	oduction	46

2.3 Ma	terials and Methods	47
2.3.1	Animals	47
2.3.2	Indirect calorimetry	
2.3.3	Tissue collection	
2.3.4	Determination of insulin sensitivity	
2.3.5	Lipid tolerance test	49
2.3.6	Hepatic bile acids and fecal energy content	49
2.3.7	Analysis of metabolites and circulating factors	49
2.3.8	2.8. RNA isolation, RT and real-time quantitative PCR	50
2.3.9	Statistical analysis	50
2.4 Re	sults	50
2.4.1	FGF19 lowers body weight in obese mice	50
2.4.2	FGF19 enhances insulin stimulated glucose disposal	51
2.4.3	FGF19 rapidly increase caloric expenditure in obese mice	54
2.4.4	FGF19 induces thermogenic gene expression in adipose tissue	55
2.4.5	FGF19 does not require UCP1 to lower body weight in mice	55
2.5 Dis	scussion	
2.6 Co	nclusions	64
2.7 Ac	knowledgements	64
2.8 Re	ferences	65
СНАРТЕН	R 3. THE HEDGEHOG SIGNALING PATHWAY IS EXPRESSED IN T	THE ADULT
MOUSE H	IYPOTHALAMUS AND MODULATED BY FASTING	68
3.1 Ab	stract	68
3.2 Ma	terials and Methods	69
3.2.1	Animals	69
3.2.2	In situ hybridization	70
3.2.3	Quantitative real-time PCR	70
3.2.4	Experimental design and statistical analyses	70
3.3 Re	sults	71
3.4 Dis	scussion	
3.5 Ac	knowledgements	

3.6	References	84
CHAF	TER 4. DISCUSSION	88
4.1	Endocrine FGFs in adult energy homeostasis	88
4.2	Hedgehog signaling in the adult hypothalamus	89
4.3	References	94

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. FGF19 lowers body weight in obese mic	52
Figure 2.2. FGF19 increases caloric expenditure and thermogenic gene expression	54
Figure 2.3. UCP1 is not required for the antiobesity effects of FGF195	57
Figure 2.4. UCP1 is required for the thermogenic effect of FGF196	50
Figure 3.1. Hedgehog pathway expression in the adult mouse ARC	72
Figure 3.2. Controls for dual probe in situ hybridization studies	74
Figure 3.3. Hedgehog pathway expression in adult mouse PVN7	75
Figure 3.4. Gli1 and Ptch1 expression in astrocytes in adult mouse hypothalamus	77
Figure 3.5. Feeding status mediated changes in hypothalamic hedgehog pathway gene expression	on 79
Figure 3.6. Expression of selected hedgehog pathway transcripts in the adult mouse brain 8	31

ABSTRACT

Many signaling pathways which are classically understood for their roles in early development are also known to be involved in tissue maintenance and adult energy homeostasis. Furthermore, dysfunction of these signaling pathways results in human diseases such as cancer. An in depth understanding of how developmentally important signaling pathways function in the adult will provide mechanistic insights into disease and potential new therapeutic targets. Here in Chapter 1, the Wnt, fibroblast growth factor (FGF), and Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathways are discussed and examples of their relevance in development, adult homeostasis, and disease are provided. Wnt signaling provides an example of this concept as it has well described roles during both development and adult metabolism.

Work included in Chapter 2, investigates the regulation of adult energy homeostasis by a member of the endocrine FGF family, FGF19. The three endocrine FGFs, FGF19 (FGF15 in mice), FGF21, and FGF23 have well described roles in the regulation of metabolic processes in adults. While FGF23 is primarily involved in the regulation of phosphate and vitamin D homeostasis, FGF19 and FGF21 have shown similar pharmacological effects on whole body metabolism. Here, the importance of adaptive thermogenesis for the pharmacological action of FGF19 is explored. Using UCP1KO animals we show that whole-body thermogenesis is dispensable for body weight loss following FGF19 treatment.

Finally, the potential involvement of Hh signaling in mediating the hyperphagia driven obesity observed in certain ciliopathies is explored in Chapter 3. Emerging evidence suggests cilia play an important role in the regulation of feeding behavior. In mammals, the hedgehog pathway is dependent on the primary cilium as an organizing center and defects in hedgehog signaling share some clinical symptoms of ciliopathies. Here, we characterized the expression of core pathway components in the adult hypothalamus. We show that neurons within specific nuclei important for regulation of feeding behavior express Hh ligand and members of its signaling pathway. We also demonstrate that the Hh pathway is transcriptionally upregulated in response to an overnight fast. This work provides an important foundation for understanding the functional role of Hh signaling in regulation of energy homeostasis. In its entirety, this work highlights the emerging clinical relevance of developmentally critical pathways in diseases associated with dysfunction of adult tissue homeostasis, such as obesity.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The development of a complex, multicellular organism from a single cell requires precise organization. Embryonic development is a genetically controlled process which coordinates cellular events such as differentiation, proliferation, and migration. Among the most important signaling pathways for these processes are the FGF, Hedgehog, Wnt, TGFß, and Notch signaling pathways. These pathways are repeatedly utilized in both regional and temporal manors to produce the adult body plan. In addition to their critical role during development, these signaling pathways are also important for proper functioning and maintenance of adult tissues and emerging evidence now suggests that they have fundamental roles in adult energy homeostasis.

While not intended to be a comprehensive review, the following section provides specific examples of signaling pathways which are important in both embryonic development and adult homeostasis. First, the FGF signaling pathway is introduced to provide context for the included work on the role of FGF19 in the regulation of whole-body metabolism (Chapter 2). Next, Wnt signaling is discussed as a pathway with many well-known roles in both development and the maintenance and functioning of adult tissues. Furthermore, there are many similarities between the Wnt and Hedgehog signaling pathways, which is a major focus of this dissertation (Chapter 3). Finally, the role of the primary cilia in the regulation of energy homeostasis is explored by highlighting ciliopathy associated obesity. Examples of cilia-mediated hedgehog signaling in the functioning of metabolic tissues are also provided and further discussed.

1.1 The FGF pathway

1.1.1 FGF Signaling in development

Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) signaling is critical for the earliest stages of embryonic development and remains active in the adult where it functions as homeostatic factors important for tissue maintenance and metabolism. The FGF family consists of 18 secreted proteins which bind to and activate 4 tyrosine kinase FGF receptors (FGFRs). Binding of an FGF ligand to an FGFR induces dimerization and autophosphorylation of the receptor. Activated FGFR mediates intracellular signaling through the MAPK, AKT, PLC γ , and signal transducer and activator of

transcription (STAT) signaling pathways (1). The canonical FGFs act in an autocrine or paracrine fashion to regulate cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival. Additionally, there are three endocrine FGFs which regulate phosphate, bile acid, carbohydrate, and lipid metabolism (2, 3).

During early embryogenesis Fgf4 is expressed in the epiblast of the inner cell mass where it is required for proliferation and formation of the primitive ectoderm (4, 5). Indeed, mice lacking Fgf4 die early in embryogenesis due to impaired proliferation of the inner cell mass (5). FGF signaling is required throughout organogenesis where it regulates interactions between epithelial cells and mesenchyme. The apical ectodermal ridge (AER) is a specialized thickening of epithelium at the tip of the limb bud that is required for limb proximal-distal differentiation and growth (6). It has been shown that Fgf10 is expressed in the lateral plate mesoderm where it signals the ectoderm to initiate formation of the AER (7-9). FGF10 is also required for lung development. While global loss of Fgf10 leads to early post-natal death, conditional loss of Fgf10 or Fgfr2 in the mouse results in defective lobe formation and epithelial branching of the lung (10-12). In the developing nervous system, Fgf8 is expressed in the neuroepithelium where it regulates anteriorposterior patterning of the neocortex, midbrain and hindbrain and mice lacking Fgf8 die by embryonic day 9.5 (13-17). Induction and refinement of the otic placode, which gives rise to the entire inner ear, is regulated by FGF10 and FGF3 (18, 19). Later, Fgf20 expressed in the prosensory epithelium signals to FGFR1 to regulate differentiation of the cochlear sensory epithelium (20, 21). A subfamily known as the intracellular FGFs (iFGFs) are not secreted and have no known interaction with FGFRs (22). Members of this subfamily, which includes FGF11, FGF12, FGF13, and FGF14, interact with voltage gated sodium channels to regulate their localization and gating properties (23-25). Animals lacking Fgf13 or Fgf14 exhibit neuronal defects which results in learning and memory deficits (26-28). Given the diversification and utilization of FGF ligands and receptors for process like cell proliferation, organogenesis, differentiation, and survival it comes as no surprise that this complex signaling machinery would also be utilized for adult tissue homeostasis and even organ-organ endocrine communication and metabolism.

1.1.2 The endocrine FGFs: Regulation of adult metabolism

The endocrine FGF subfamily consists of FGF19 (FGF15 is the mouse ortholog of human FGF19), FGF21, and FGF23. In contrast to the canonical FGFs, the endocrine FGFs have a low heparin binding affinity which allows them to escape the extracellular matrix and enter circulation. Instead of using heparin as a cofactor for FGFR binding and activation the endocrine FGFs rely on the Klotho family of transmembrane proteins. FGF15/19 and FGF21 signaling requires β -Klotho while FGF23 signaling requires α -Klotho (29).

In the adult, FGF23 is primarily involved in the regulation of phosphate and vitamin D homeostasis. FGF23, which is mainly expressed in osteocytes, mediates these processes through binding and activation of FGFR1, FGFR3, and FGFR4 in addition to the cofactor α -Klotho (30-32). α -Klotho restricts the activity of FGF23 and is highly expressed in the kidney and choroid plexus in the brain (33). FGF23 regulates serum phosphate levels by reducing expression of sodium-phosphate transporters within renal proximal tubular membranes, resulting in increased phosphate excretion (34). Concurrently, FGF23 inhibits renal Cyp27b1 expression and promotes Cyp24al expression, resulting in reduced levels of 1,25(OH)₂D and subsequent phosphate absorption by the gut and bone (35). Interestingly, animals lacking either Fgf23 or α -Klotho exhibit very similar phenotypes in which there is no embryonic lethality but develop early postnatal hyperphosphatemia and hypercalcemia leading to premature death (33, 35). The importance of FGF23 for the maintenance of proper phosphate homeostasis is exemplified by human diseases associated with FGF23 mutations. Gain of function mutations of FGF23 in humans underlie autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (AHDR) which is associated with excessive urinary phosphate wasting (36). Similarly, a human patient with hypophosphatemic linear nevus sebaceous syndrome was identified as having elevated circulating levels of FGF23 (37). An inactivating mutation of FGF23 was found in familial tumoral calcinosis, which is an autosomal recessive disorder characterized by ectopic calcifications and elevated serum phosphate levels (38).

FGF21 has been shown to be an important regulator of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism as well as whole body energy homeostasis. FGF21 is expressed in metabolic tissues such as liver, white adipose tissue, brown adipose tissue, muscle, and pancreas (39-43). Supportive of its role in regulation of metabolic processes, expression of its co-factor β -Klotho is restricted to metabolically active tissues (44). Mice lacking Fgf21 appear normal but gain significantly more weight than wild type mice when fed either a high fat or ketogenic diet (45, 46). Congruent with these findings Fgf21 overexpressing animals exhibit a lean phenotype with accompanying improvements in glycemic control and insulin sensitivity (47). Furthermore, mice treated by pharmacological administration of recombinant FGF21 demonstrate profound metabolic effects such as reductions in serum glucose, insulin and triglycerides as well as a dose dependent decrease in body mass (48, 49). Interestingly, animals treated with FGF21 exhibit elevated expression of thermogenic genes, most notably uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1), in white and brown adipose tissue (50). This elevated thermogenic capacity of adipose tissue is accompanied by increased whole body energy expenditure following treatment with FGF21 (49, 51). Somewhat surprisingly, animals lacking UCP1 lost a similar amount of body weight as wild type animals when treated with FGF21 despite ameliorated UCP1-dependent thermogenesis (52). The body weight lost by UCP1KO animals treated with FGF21 was in part driven by an underlying reduction in food intake. Consistent with a potential roll in regulation of feeding behavior, it has been demonstrated that central infusion or overexpression of FGF21 modulates food intake and energy expenditure and these effects are lost in animals lacking β -Klotho in the brain (53-55). In support of these findings, genome analysis in humans have revealed mutations in the FGF21 gene and locus that correlate with increased carbohydrate intake (56, 57). Furthermore, a polymorphism in the 3' untranslated region of *FGF21* in humans was found to be associated with obesity (58).

While deletion of Fgf15 in mice is embryonically lethal, few do survive into adulthood (59). FGF19, the human ortholog of mouse Fgf15, has similar effects as FGF21 on whole body metabolism. Both animals treated with or overexpressing FGF19 exhibit increased metabolic rates, improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, and lose more body weight than control animals (60-62). However, in adult mice, the primary biological role of Fgf15 is regulation of bile acids. Post-prandial release of bile acids stimulates Fgf15 production in the ileum where it subsequently signals to the liver to inhibit bile acid synthesis (63). Blockade of bile acid flow into the small intestine through bile duct ligation results in elevated liver expression of Cyp7a1, which catalyzes the rate-limiting step in bile acid synthesis. Furthermore, Fgf15 knockout mice have increased CYP7A1 mRNA, protein, and enzyme activity levels and a corresponding increase in fecal bile acid excretion (64). Fgf15 has been shown to bind to and activate FgfR4 and this

interaction is required for its action in the liver (65, 66). In addition to regulation of bile acid homeostasis, Fgf15 has also been shown to be important for liver regeneration and hepatocyte proliferation. Increased hepatocyte proliferation was observed in animals treated with FGF19 and this proliferative effect has been shown to be dependent on FgfR4 activation in the liver (66, 67). Following partial hepatectomy Fgf15 knockout mice displayed extensive liver necrosis and mortality compared to wild type animals (68). Commensurate with its role in mediating hepatocyte proliferation, FGFR4 has been implicated in the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in humans. A study which analyzed FGFR4 expression in HCC tissue samples found eight genetic alterations including two highly frequent polymorphisms (69). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that FGF19 transgenic mice develop HCC (70). However, treatment of transgenic animals with an FGFR4 neutralizing antibody or crossing them with FGFR4 knockout mice, results in reduced liver tumor formation (71). The beneficial pharmacological effects of FGF19 and FGF21 treatment has generated interest in their use as therapeutic agents for metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). Therefore, it will be critical to gain a greater understanding of the mechanisms which underly their beneficial metabolic effects such as increased whole-body energy expenditure and weight loss.

1.2 The WNT signaling pathway

1.2.1 WNT Signaling in development

In Drosophila, Wingless (*wg*) was shown to regulate segment polarity during larval development while the mammalian *Wnt1* gene was originally identified as an oncogene in a mouse model of breast cancer (72, 73). In canonical Wnt signaling, in the absence of ligand cytoplasmic β -catenin is constantly degraded by the axin complex which includes Axin, Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), casein kinase 1 (CK1), glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) (74, 75). CK1 and GSK3, phosphorylate β -catenin, which results in its ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (76). Binding of a Wnt ligand to the receptor Frizzled (FZD), a seven-pass transmembrane G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), leads to recruitment of the Axin complex and inhibition by Dishevelled (77-79). Subsequently, stabilized β -catenin accumulates and travels to the nucleus where it complexes with TCF/LEF and activates target gene expression (80, 81). To date, 19 members of the Wnt family have been identified in mammals, along with 10 members of

the FZD family of receptors. Wnt proteins are hydrophobic, indeed it has been shown that when expressed *in vitro* they are primarily found associated with cell membranes or the extracellular matrix (82). It was further demonstrated that lipid modification by attachment of a palmitate moiety on a conserved cysteine residue is important for ligand secretion and signaling activity (83).

In addition to canonical signaling, the Wnt pathway also transduces non-canonical signaling which is often referred to as the β -catenin independent pathway. Non-canonical Wnt signaling can be further divided into the Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) and the Wnt/Ca2+ pathway. The PCP pathway primarily functions in regulating the actin cytoskeleton for the organization of cellular structures and cell migration (84). PCP signaling is initiated upon FZD activation and is transduced by asymmetric accumulation of a complex of proteins, including Dishevelled, at the plasma membrane (85). Downstream of Dishevelled, activation of the small GTPases RHO and RAC is critical for establishment of cell polarity (86, 87). The Wnt/Ca2+ pathway, which interacts with both canonical and PCP signaling, is defined by Wnt or FZD induced intracellular calcium release from the ER (88). The release of intracellular calcium has been shown to be dependent on the activity of heterotrimeric G-proteins (89). The increase of intracellular calcium results in activation of calcium sensitive signaling proteins such as protein kinase C (PKC) and calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CamKII) (90).

Studies in vertebrates and flies demonstrated that Wnt signaling plays a highly conserved role in embryonic development. In the fly, mutations of wg, dishevelled, armadillo (the fly homolog of β -catenin), or shaggy/zeste-white 3 (the fly homolog of GSK3), cause developmental abnormalities in patterning of the cuticle which normally exhibits alternating denticle and naked belts (73, 91-93). In studies using Xenopus embryos, injection of mouse *Wnt1* mRNA resulted in a duplication of the body axis (94). During mammalian development Wnt ligands are expressed in the primitive streak and early gastrula organizer and Wnt signaling is required for establishing the anterior-posterior axis, mesoderm development, and specification of neural crest stem cells as sensory neural cells (95-99)

1.2.2 WNT signaling in adult tissues and disease

Outside of its role in development, Wnt signaling remains important in adult tissue homeostasis through regulation of self-renewal. In the epithelium of the small intestine, proliferative progenitor cells located in the crypt region produce new epithelial cells at a high rate. Disruption of the Wnt pathway in mice results in loss of the crypt progenitor region (100). It has also been demonstrated that Wnt signaling is important for activation of multipotent epidermal stem cells found in the bulge region of the hair follicle. When β -catenin is conditionally ablated in mice, bulge stem cells do not produce hair lineage precursors resulting in hair loss (101, 102). Of particular relevance, it has been established that neurogenesis persists into adulthood in various regions of the brain. The subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus in the hippocampus contains neural stem cells that give rise to neuronally committed cells that mature into granule cells (103, 104). In mammals there is evidence that adult neurogenesis impacts not just structural plasticity but functions of the hippocampus such as spatial learning and memory (105-107). Not only are Wnts expressed in neural progenitor cells of the adult hippocampus, but neurogenesis is induced or inhibited *in vivo* through activation or inhibition of Wnt signaling respectively (108, 109).

The developmental and homeostatic importance of Wnt signaling is underscored by the myriad of human genetic disorders and cancers which result from its disfunction. Patients with a hereditary form of cancer called Familiar Adenomatous Polyposis inherit a single defective allele of *APC* and develop large numbers of colon polyps in early adulthood (110). Additionally, a majority of sporadic colorectal cancers result from loss of both *APC* alleles (111). Loss of APC function in intestinal epithelial cells causes constitutive β -catenin activity and subsequent inappropriate progenitor cell proliferation (112, 113). Defects in Wnt signaling have also been implicated in the progression of Alzheimer's disease (AD). Rodent models of AD exhibit reduced rates of neurogenesis (114, 115). Congruent with these findings, patients with AD pathology exhibit reduced adult hippocampal neurogenesis compared to neurologically healthy human subjects (116, 117). Interestingly, defects in Wnt signaling have been observed in animal models of AD (118-120). In human AD patients, altered expression of components of the Wnt co-receptor, LRP6, exhibits reduced signaling activity and is associated with late-onset AD in humans (125, 126). The contribution of Wnt signaling dysfunction to these human diseases suggests that the Wnt

pathway is important for the proper functioning of adult tissues important for the regulation of energy homeostasis like the colon and brain.

1.3 WNT and Hh similarities

1.3.1 Signal transduction

Like Wnt signaling, the Hedgehog (Hh) pathway also has well characterized functions in embryonic development and emerging roles in adult energy homeostasis. There are notable similarities in the functioning of the Wnt and Hh signaling pathways. First, the Hh pathway member Smoothened (SMO) shares structural homology with the 10 FZD receptors and together make up a distinct class of GPCRs known as the Frizzled family (127). Additionally, secreted ligands of both pathways are modified by the posttranslational addition of palmitate (83, 128). Hh and Wnt proteins are palmitoylated by members of the membrane-bound O-acyltransferase (MBOAT) family (129, 130). Furthermore, this palmitoylation is critical for both their secretion and proper signaling (83, 131, 132). In addition to palmitoylation, Hh ligands are also modified by the addition of cholesterol which makes them more hydrophobic and enhances distribution (133, 134). Similar to WNT signaling, the Hh pathway has both canonical and non-canonical signaling activity. The Hh signaling pathway is discussed in more detail in subsequent sections. Briefly, canonical activation of Hh signaling occurs when Hh ligands bind the twelve-pass transmembrane receptor Patched (Ptch), which inhibits Smo (135, 136). Active Smo initiates an intracellular cascade that leads to the activation of Glioma (Gli) transcription factors (137-139). In general, non-canonical Hh signaling refers to Hedgehog-dependent signals that are independent of Gli activation. Type I non-canonical Hedgehog signaling works through Ptch and is independent of Smo, while type II functions through Smo (140-142). Additionally, Gli activation independent of Smo has been observed and referred to as a form non-canonical Hedgehog signaling (143, 144).

1.4 Progenitor cells and cancer

It has become increasingly clear that these pathways critical for early development remain active into adulthood where they mediate tissue homeostasis. Additionally, dysregulation of these pathways causes a myriad of diseases such as cancer. It has been proposed that there are a small number of cancer stem cells (CSCs) within a tumor which are long-lived, proliferative, and multipotent. The existence of CSCs would help explain certain characteristics of tumors such as their recurrence, dormancy, and metastasis. Transplantation studies in many types of cancer, such as leukemia and colon cancer, have identified CSCs that possess the capability to initiate and sustain tumor growth through differentiation and proliferation (145-148).

A reoccurring theme for both Wnt and Hh signaling is their functioning in the maintenance of progenitor cell niches which are required for tissue turnover and repair. Furthermore, mutations in these pathways are known to result in enhanced cell proliferation and cancer. In an animal model of intestinal cancer in which the Wnt pathway is activated in progenitor cells through conditional deletion of *APC*, lineage tracing identified the presence of CSCs in tumors (149). Furthermore, *APC* loss of function mutations underlie both familial and sporadic forms of colorectal cancers (110, 111). For these reasons, the Wnt pathway has become a therapeutic target for the treatment of colorectal cancers (150).

Similar to Wnt signaling, the Hh pathway has been shown to be important for proper development of hair follicles (101, 102, 151). Consistent with this function, mutations which activate the Hh pathway have been identified in patients with basal cell carcinoma (BCC), which has been proposed to originate from the bulge region of the hair follicle (152-155). Both lineage tracing performed in *Ptch1* deficient animals as well as conditional knockout of *Ptch1* have identified CSCs within the hair follicle region as a source of BCC tumors (156, 157). Congruently, it has been demonstrated in mice that inappropriate activation of the Hh pathway in skin leads to BCC (158, 159). Furthermore, defects in the Wnt and Hh pathways represent 2 of the 4 distinct classes of medulloblastoma (MB), which is the most common malignant pediatric brain tumor (160-162). MB is thought to originate from granule-cell precursors (GCPs) within the external granule cell layer (163). It has been shown that not only does Hh signaling promote proliferation of GCPs, but genetic activation of the Hh pathway in GCPs results in MB (164-167). In depth understanding of the molecular mechanisms responsible for proper tissue maintenance and how their disfunction causes certain types of cancers will certainly lead to new investigational avenues for the discovery of therapeutics.

1.4.1 Regulation of metabolic tissues in the adult by Wnt and Hh

The Wnt and Hh signaling pathways have been implicated in the proper development and function of important metabolic tissues such as the pancreas and adipose tissue. In the developing pancreas, not only are multiple Wnt ligands and FZD receptors expressed but altered expression of ligand or antagonism of Wnt signaling results in inappropriate patterning of the pancreas (168-170). During organogenesis, Hh signaling has been shown to inhibit formation of the pancreas. Studies in mice have shown that upregulation of Hh signaling results in loss of pancreatic tissue while inhibition of signaling leads to expansion of the developing pancreas (171-175).

Studies in human cohorts identified mutations in transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2), a transcription factor in the Wnt pathway, that are associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes (176-178). TCF7L2 has been shown to be important for the function of the pancreas, when it is knocked down in human and mouse islets it causes reduced glucose stimulated insulin secretion (179, 180). Furthermore, in mice conductional deletion of *TCF7L2* in the pancreas or in β -cells results in glucose intolerance and impaired glucose stimulated insulin secretion (181, 182). Congruent with these findings, mice expressing a dominant negative form of *TCF7L2* in β -cells display alterations in glucose homeostasis and insulin secretion (168, 183). Hh signaling has also been implicated in the functioning of the pancreas as ligand and receptor expression has been observed in islets (184). Additionally, animals heterozygous for global knockout of *Ptch1* or pancreatic knockout of *Smo* exhibit glucose intolerance (173, 185).

Related to their function in the maintenance of progenitor cells, both the Wnt and Hh pathways have been shown to inhibit adipogenesis by restricting differentiation of preadipocytes. It has been demonstrated *in vitro* that induction of Wnt signaling by overexpression of *Wnt10b* or other forms of pathway agonism inhibits differentiation of adipocytes while Wnt pathway inhibition causes adipocyte differentiation (186, 187). Indeed, overexpression of *Wnt10b* in the adipose of mice results in a lean phenotype due to an overall reduction in the amount of white and brown fat (188). Interestingly, a mutation in *WNT10B* has been described to be associated with obesity in humans (189). A summary of the role of Hh signaling in the differentiation of preadipocytes is covered in more detail in the following section **1.1.5**.

Content in the following section was previously published by Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2021 Feb;110:43-50. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2020.05.006.Patrick Antonellis shared equal authorship for this manuscript.

1.5 Cilia signaling and obesity

Obesity is a major growing public health concern (190). The secondary health consequences including heart disease, high blood pressure, diabetes mellitus and osteoarthritis can reduce quality of life and lead to early mortality (191). Historically, obesity has been viewed as increased body fat due to overconsumption of food combined with a sedentary lifestyle. This viewpoint largely focuses on environmental and social factors; it fails to take into account evidence that indicates a profound role for genetic contributions (for a review on obesity-associated genetic syndromes see (192)). While most monogenetic human conditions involving morbid obesity are rare, it is clear that the study of their molecular and cellular etiology will offer insights into the mechanisms that regulate appetite and satiety. The objectives of this review are to discuss syndromic forms of obesity that impact genes required for the formation or function of small hair-like cellular appendages called cilia. We also discuss the potential that cilia genes may play a role in common forms of obesity. How cilia dysfunction in both the brain and peripheral tissues may contribute to obesity is discussed by reviewing mouse and cell model data. Interesting data from genetic mouse models of ciliopathies has revealed the importance of cilia in both development and homeostasis. Of particular interest, the hedgehog signaling pathway depends on primary cilia for proper signal transduction in mammals. We highlight evidence connecting dysfunctions in ciliamediated hedgehog signaling to the obesity phenotype observed in ciliopathies. Ultimately, an understanding of how these organelles function to regulate energy homeostasis may reveal

opportunities to address a major public health concern.

1.5.1 Ciliopathy syndromes and obesity

Ciliopathies are genetic disorders associated with deficits in cilia formation, maintenance and function. As cilia are nearly ubiquitous throughout the body, these disorders present with a wide range of features impacting all organ systems (193). Certain ciliopathies present with pediatric obesity including Bardet-Biedl syndrome (BBS, OMIM #209900), Alström syndrome (ALMS, OMIM #203800), Mental retardation, truncal obesity, retinal dystrophy and micropenis syndrome (MORM, OMIM #610156) and Carpenter syndrome (CRPT1, OMIM #201000).

BBS affects 1 in 100,000 newborns, with higher prevalence in consanguineous and geographically isolated populations, where the disease can affect as many as 1 in 17,000 individuals (194). In addition to obesity, these children present with developmental delay, renal failure, retinitis pigmentosa, hypogonadism and polydactyly (195, 196). They also show a higher rate of metabolic syndrome including an increased risk for type 2 diabetes (196). To date, mutations in 22 genes have been identified to cause the disease (196-201). Several BBS genes encode for proteins that are associated with two larger complexes, one called the BBSome which is important for transport of signaling proteins and receptors to and from cilia (202-206) and the other is a chaperone complex associated with BBSome assembly (207).

Unlike the heterogenetic nature of BBS, Alström syndrome (ALMS) is monogenic, with loss-of-function mutations found in the ALMS1 gene (208, 209). ALMS is rare with an apparent worldwide prevalence of less than 1 in a million individuals (210). While ALMS patients present with childhood truncal obesity and hypogonadism, they also have an earlier onset of type 2 diabetes, visual loss, progressive hearing loss, short stature and cardiomyopathy (209, 211). ALMS1 protein localizes to centrioles and the base of cilia where it is thought to be important for proper cilia function, maintenance and allowing signaling proteins in and out of the organelle (212-216).

Clinical efforts are being made to treat the obesity in BBS and ALMS patients. Currently, phase 3 clinical trials of Setmelanotide, a Melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R) agonist, are underway with the aim to reduce appetite and increase energy expenditure (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03746522) (217, 218). Interestingly, it has also recently been reported that Methionine aminopeptidase 2 inhibitors (MetAP2i) are able to reduce hyperphagia in obese ciliopathy mouse models (219). Previous clinical studies of MetAP2i in Prader-Willi syndrome (PWS, OMIM #176270) patients showed weight loss through reduced food intake (220, 221). Though clinical trials of MetAP2i have been suspended, development of next generation MetAP2i compounds could be beneficial for ciliopathy patients.

In addition to BBS and ALMS, other rare syndromes such as MORM and Carpenter syndromes, as well as monogenic alleles of adenylate cyclase 3 (*ACIII*), *MC4R*, and the inorganic pyrophosphate transporter *ANKH*, have been associated with cilia dysfunction and obesity. Both MORM and Carpenter syndromes are extremely rare autosomal recessive ciliopathies (195, 222). MORM syndrome is clinically defined by its acronym, <u>mental retardation</u>, early onset truncal <u>o</u>besity, non-progressive <u>r</u>etinal dystrophy and <u>micropenis in males. Carpenter syndrome includes similar features with skeletal and craniofacial malformations, polydactyly, heart and eye defects, childhood obesity as well as hydrocephaly and intellectual disability (223-225). Both arise from mutations in genes that encode for cilia-specific enzymes. In MORM, the lipid phosphatase, inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase E (*INPP5E*) is mutated (195, 222, 226). INPP5E is found predominantly in the cilia transition zone where it is thought to help establish cilia sub-compartmentalization important for proper signaling (227-229). The Rab-GTPase, *RAB23* is mutated in Carpenter syndrome (223-225). Rab23 is important for proper trafficking of ciliary proteins and receptors as well as negative regulation of hedgehog signaling. (230-233).</u>

The primary cilium is required for proper hedgehog signaling in mammals, for an in-depth review of hedgehog signaling and primary cilia see Kopinke, Norris and Mukhopadhyay in this edition (234). Interestingly, disruption in hedgehog signaling produces severe clinical features such as abnormal development of the nervous system, facial structure, and limbs. Mutations in pathway ligand sonic hedgehog as well as downstream genes result in a disorder known as Holoprosencephaly (HPE), in which patients develop an abnormal brain and facial structure, with frequent midfacial clefts (235-237). Additionally, patients with mutations in the ligands Indian hedgehog and desert hedgehog exhibit defects in skeletal and sexual development (238-242). Many ciliopathy phenotypes such as polydactyly, external genitalia anomalies, and craniofacial defects are reminiscent of Shh pathway deficiencies (243, 244). While there are currently no functional data linking hedgehog defects to human obesity, it is possible that hedgehog deficiency contributes to ciliopathy-associated obesity given that the hedgehog pathway relies on the primary cilium in mammals and that human genetic defects in this pathway cause phenotypes observed in ciliopathies. In this review, we further discuss animal and *in vitro* studies of the hedgehog pathway and potential implications in obesity.

Other ciliary genes implicated in monogenic forms of obesity are ANKH and centrosomal protein 19 (CEP19) (245, 246). The *ANKH* gene encodes an inorganic pyrophosphate transporter that is involved in bone calcium homeostasis and localizes to cilia and basal bodies (247, 248). While ANKH is known for its role in mineralization, mutations of the gene identified in a subset of Russian population are associated with increased BMI, waist-to-hip ratio and levels of plasma leptin (245). How ANKH or its ciliary localization play a role in energy homeostasis is not known. However, a recent study shows mice lacking osteoblast-specific genes are fat and glucose intolerant indicating a role of the skeleton in endocrine regulation (249). This combined with the correlation of ANKH with leptin suggests an indirect role for the protein in peripheral tissues such as adipocytes. On the other hand, autosomal recessive mutations in *CEP19* result in obesity in a large Israeli family (246). CEP19 exclusively localizes to basal bodies of cilia to facilitate ciliogenesis and trafficking of ciliary GPCRs. (246, 250, 251). Furthermore, CEP19 knockout mice recapitulated the human phenotype and displayed hyperphagia along with an increase in adipogenesis (246).

1.5.2 Cilia in the central nervous system and feeding behavior

Neurons and most cell types throughout the central nervous system possess primary cilia (252-254). Yet, understanding the function of neuronal cilia has remained a challenge. As new approaches and tools have begun to be established to allow their visualization (255) it has become clear that neuronal cilia likely play diverse signaling roles throughout the brain and impact several behaviors including feeding.

Initial conditional mouse approaches to disrupt cilia formation through intraflagellar transport (IFT) alleles, (for a review of IFT see (256)), were useful for obtaining a broad understanding of phenotypes that emerge upon cilia dysfunction, including altered energy homeostasis. Near ubiquitous cilia loss in adult mice results in hyperphagia and subsequent obesity (257). Controlling for food intake in pair-feeding experiments of conditional IFT mutants prevented obesity, indicating that cilia restrict weight gain by inhibiting the consumption of food rather than by affecting metabolism or locomotor activity. Using this same approach to remove cilia from neurons recapitulated the obesity phenotype and demonstrated a role for neuronal cilia in feeding behavior (257).

1.5.3 Neuronal cilia GPCRs and obesity

GPCR misregulation has emerged as a focus of many studies on how cilia centrally regulate appetite and satiety. Several GPCRs appear preferentially enriched at the membrane of primary cilia, some of which have well recognized roles in feeding behavior or energy homeostasis, including melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1 (MCHR1), MC4R, neuropeptide Y receptors 2 and 5 (NPY2R and NPY5R), somatostatin receptor 3 (SSTR3), kisspeptin 1 receptor (KISS1R), serotonin receptor 6 (5HT6), dopamine receptor 1 (DRD1) (203, 253, 254, 258-261).

Interestingly in mouse models of BBS, some GPCRs that are normally found in cilia no longer appear to localize to the compartment such as MCHR1 and SSTR3 (202). Additionally, NPY2R fails to localize to primary cilia in mice lacking the BBSome subunit BBIP10 (*Bbip10*) (259). NPY2R ciliary localization was also found to be decreased when *Bbs1* is lost specifically from POMC or AGRP neurons (262). Furthermore, recent studies have revealed a role for the BBSome in dynamically transporting GPCRs across the transition zone of cilia (263-265). These data indicate that the BBSome is important for proper localization of GPCRs and suggests that impaired signaling due to their mislocalization could contribute to obesity in BBS.

In ALMS mouse models, ciliary GPCRs appear to localize properly. However, the cilia signaling protein, ACIII, shows decreased localization (213). Without ACIII, which is activated via $G\alpha_s$ -coupled GPCRs, the normal downstream intracellular signaling events required to maintain a normal body weight may be impaired. In fact in an ACIII knock out mouse model, obesity occurs through decreased activity and increased food intake (266). Furthermore, inhibiting ACIII specifically in a population of neurons in the PVN also leads to weight gain (261).

The most recent GPCR found to localize to primary cilia is MC4R (261). Using *in situ* hybridization, MC4R was found to be expressed throughout the brain of rodents including the hypothalamus (267). In mice, loss of *Mc4r* results in hyperphagia and obesity (268). Using a GFP tag, MC4R can be seen in cilia of neurons within the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN). Intriguingly, some of the mutations in *MC4R* that result in obesity in humans described above result in decreased localization of MC4R in cilia (261). It remains to be seen if mutations associated with ciliopathies impact MC4R function.

Several proteins are needed to properly transport GPCRs into and out of the cilium. It is likely that the mechanisms are different for different ciliary GPCRs. Proteins like the atypical small GTPase RAB-like 2 (RABL2), CEP19, and TUB all have roles in transporting GPCRs to the cilia and also play a role in maintaining normal adult mouse body weight. *Rabl2* knockout mice become obese with age and recently it was found that without RABL2, ciliary GPCRs like GPR161 and 5HT6 are absent from primary cilia (251, 269). Similarly, *Cep19* knockout mice are obese and fail to localize GPR161 to cilia (246, 251). Obese tubby knockout mice also fail to localize SSTR3, MCHR1, and NPY2R to cilia (259, 270, 271).

The impact of the subcellular localization of these receptors in regulating feeding is not well understood. Perhaps they localize to the ciliary compartment in order to interact with specific G-proteins to produce appropriate second messengers or even to interact with other GPCRs that are also found within the cilium. For example, it has been shown that SSTR3 and MCHR1 found in the same cilium physically interact by forming heteromers (272). Other studies have shown that ciliary GPCR signaling interacts with the ciliary hedgehog pathway. For example, GPR161, is known to influence Hedgehog pathway activity in development but little is known about functions in adult neurons (273, 274). In the olfactory system, when smoothened, a GPCR in the hedgehog pathway, is knocked out from olfactory sensory neurons, odorant GPCRs cilia localization is attenuated (275). Other data supporting interactions between the hedgehog pathway and GPCR signaling comes from primary hypothalamic cultures. Pharmacological activation of smoothened inhibits response to the MCHR1 agonist melanin-concentrating hormone (276). Further studies will reveal how these pathways interact and how their localization to cilia influences their signaling and ability to modulate feeding behavior.

1.5.4 Cilia in peripheral tissues and metabolic phenotypes

In addition to obesity, ciliopathies like BBS and ALMS are also associated with clinical features such as type 2 diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (277). How cilia in peripheral tissues impact metabolism and energy homeostasis is unclear. A growing body of literature suggests that functional cilia on preadipocytes are critical for coordinating adipogenesis. Additionally, cilia have been suggested to be important for normal pancreatic morphology and

function. In this section, we outline a few examples of how cilia are involved in the proper functioning of adipose tissue and the pancreas.

1.5.5 Cilia in adipose tissue

White adipose tissue not only serves as a site of calorie storage after feeding and the source of circulating free fatty acids during fasting but also plays an important endocrine role (278, 279). Metabolic diseases such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and lipodystrophies can be characterized by dysfunction of adipose tissue (280). While the predominant cell type in adipose is mature adipocytes, the tissue is comprised of a variety of other cell types such as endothelial cells, blood cells, fibroblasts, pericytes, and preadipocytes (281). Preadipocytes arise from mesenchymal stem cells, which can produce mature adipocytes through the process of adipogenesis (282). However, the regulation and cellular signaling associated with this differentiation process is not fully understood (283). It has been demonstrated that preadipocytes possess a primary cilium during differentiation and that it plays a critical role in their ability to become adipocytes (284-286). Specifically, knockdown of BBS proteins (BBS10 and BBS12) which localize to the primary cilia induces adipogenesis. Furthermore, BBS patient derived preadipocytes accumulate more fat than controls upon differentiation in vitro (285). Commensurate with these findings knockdown of BBS12 in human primary mesenchymal stem cells also facilitated adipogenesis (287). Additionally, this study showed that *Bbs12* knockout mice, despite being obese, were glucose and insulin tolerant and that this phenotype recapitulates observations in patients (287). These results suggest that BBS patients are predisposed to adiposity through increases in adipogenesis.

Two recent studies provide further evidence for the roles of cilia in adipocyte differentiation. Kopinke *et al.* demonstrate that cilia-mediated hedgehog signaling is important for restricting Fibro/adipogenic progenitors in muscle from becoming adipocytes (284), suggesting an active role for hedgehog in adipogenesis. In another recent study by Hilgendorf *et al.*, conditional knockout of cilia in mouse preadipocytes resulted in reduced body weight due to a reduction in total fat mass. Furthermore, the GPCR, omega-3 fatty acid receptor FFAR4/GPR120, was found to localize to the primary cilia in preadipocytes. Interestingly, FFAR4 agonists and omega-3 fatty acids triggered mitosis and adipogenesis (288). These findings suggest that cilia are important for adipogenesis mediated by preadipocytes in response to external cues. Future studies assessing the

roles of cilia in different adipose tissue cell types and diseases such as obesity and lipid dystrophies may reveal interesting themes regarding cilia signaling.

Data from multiple systems suggest hedgehog signaling is important in adult energy homeostasis. A genome-wide RNAi screen in adult *Drosophila* identified the Hedgehog pathway as being fat specific and obesity related (289). It has also been demonstrated in the fat body of *Drosophila* that lipid accumulation is repressed or enhanced by Hedgehog activation and inhibition, respectively (290). Furthermore, the *Drosophila* lipoprotein-associated form of hedgehog is secreted from the gut and signals to the fat body to broadly regulate lipid mobilization in order to couple growth to development (291, 292).

As described, hedgehog signaling is critical for proper adipocyte differentiation, and this process is perturbed in ciliopathy model systems. Further evidence that hedgehog pathway deficiency underlies ciliopathy phenotypes after development is suggested by data showing that the BBSome plays roles in proper ciliary trafficking of both patched and smoothened and mislocalize in *Bbs7* knockout cells (293). In mice, hedgehog inhibits adipogenesis and pathway activity is reduced in the adipose of obese animals (290). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that adipose specific conditional activation of the hedgehog pathway results in white adipose reduction, but not brown (289). However, in a separate study it was shown that *in vivo* activation of hedgehog signaling in adipose through deletion of Ptch1 or overexpression of SmoM2 both inhibited the formation of brown adipose tissue (294). Through the use of inducible promoters it was further shown that hedgehog pathway activation resulted in a lean phenotype with a reduction in white adipose and improvements in whole-body glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (295). It is interesting that both hedgehog pathway activation and cilia loss inhibits adipogenesis. Similarly, as we have previously discussed, BBS deficient preadipocytes are prone to adipogenesis. It should be noted that BBS defects do not often lead to complete cilia loss (296-299). Taken as a whole, these findings suggest that properly functioning cilia on preadipocytes are required to coordinate multiple signaling pathways for appropriate adipogenesis to occur.

1.5.6 Cilia in the pancreas

The pancreas is primarily responsible for glucose homeostasis and the release of digestive enzymes. It is composed of multiple cell types including endocrine cells, acinar cells, and ductal cells (300). Initial links between cilia and pancreatic function come from polycystic kidney disease patients and their associated pancreatic pathologies (301, 302). Indeed, cilia are present in both islet and ductal cells and the classic cilia hypomorphic Oak Ridge Polycystic Kidney (*Orpk*) mouse model of polycystic kidney disease exhibits changes in pancreas morphology and function (303, 304). In *Bbs4* knockout mice, defects in glucose homeostasis are observed prior to the onset of obesity and insulin secretion is impaired following knockdown of *Bbs4 ex vivo* (305). Data also suggest that the insulin receptor is directly trafficked by BBS proteins to the cell surface (306). More recently, a critical role of cilia in β -cells was highlighted when conditional loss of β -cell cilia in adult mice led to reductions in glucose homeostasis and insulin secretion (307). It is clear that cilia are present on diverse pancreatic cell types and future work will reveal new roles for cilia in pancreatic physiology.

The data discussed here implicate primary cilia as being critical for the proper functioning of adipose tissue and the pancreas, two peripheral organs critical for energy homeostasis. The role of primary cilia in adipogenesis and pancreatic function underlie not just the clinical phenotypes of certain ciliopathies but points to a potential involvement in general obesity and type 2 diabetes.

1.6 References

- 1. R. Goetz, M. Mohammadi, Exploring mechanisms of FGF signalling through the lens of structural biology. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **14**, 166-180 (2013).
- 2. M. J. Potthoff, S. A. Kliewer, D. J. Mangelsdorf, Endocrine fibroblast growth factors 15/19 and 21: from feast to famine. *Genes Dev* **26**, 312-324 (2012).
- 3. C. J. Powers, S. W. McLeskey, A. Wellstein, Fibroblast growth factors, their receptors and signaling. *Endocr Relat Cancer* **7**, 165-197 (2000).
- H. Yuan, N. Corbi, C. Basilico, L. Dailey, Developmental-specific activity of the FGF-4 enhancer requires the synergistic action of Sox2 and Oct-3. *Genes Dev* 9, 2635-2645 (1995).

- 5. B. Feldman, W. Poueymirou, V. E. Papaioannou, T. M. DeChiara, M. Goldfarb, Requirement of FGF-4 for postimplantation mouse development. *Science* **267**, 246-249 (1995).
- 6. P. Lu, Y. Yu, Y. Perdue, Z. Werb, The apical ectodermal ridge is a timer for generating distal limb progenitors. *Development* **135**, 1395-1405 (2008).
- 7. H. Min *et al.*, Fgf-10 is required for both limb and lung development and exhibits striking functional similarity to Drosophila branchless. *Genes Dev* **12**, 3156-3161 (1998).
- 8. J. Gros, C. J. Tabin, Vertebrate limb bud formation is initiated by localized epithelial-tomesenchymal transition. *Science* **343**, 1253-1256 (2014).
- 9. K. Yu, D. M. Ornitz, FGF signaling regulates mesenchymal differentiation and skeletal patterning along the limb bud proximodistal axis. *Development* **135**, 483-491 (2008).
- S. Bellusci, J. Grindley, H. Emoto, N. Itoh, B. L. Hogan, Fibroblast growth factor 10 (FGF10) and branching morphogenesis in the embryonic mouse lung. *Development* 124, 4867-4878 (1997).
- L. De Moerlooze *et al.*, An important role for the IIIb isoform of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGFR2) in mesenchymal-epithelial signalling during mouse organogenesis. *Development* 127, 483-492 (2000).
- 12. L. L. Abler, S. L. Mansour, X. Sun, Conditional gene inactivation reveals roles for Fgf10 and Fgfr2 in establishing a normal pattern of epithelial branching in the mouse lung. *Dev Dyn* **238**, 1999-2013 (2009).
- 13. S. M. Lee, P. S. Danielian, B. Fritzsch, A. P. McMahon, Evidence that FGF8 signalling from the midbrain-hindbrain junction regulates growth and polarity in the developing midbrain. *Development* **124**, 959-969 (1997).
- 14. P. H. Crossley, S. Martinez, G. R. Martin, Midbrain development induced by FGF8 in the chick embryo. *Nature* **380**, 66-68 (1996).
- 15. L. Maves, W. Jackman, C. B. Kimmel, FGF3 and FGF8 mediate a rhombomere 4 signaling activity in the zebrafish hindbrain. *Development* **129**, 3825-3837 (2002).
- 16. T. Fukuchi-Shimogori, E. A. Grove, Neocortex patterning by the secreted signaling molecule FGF8. *Science* **294**, 1071-1074 (2001).
- 17. E. N. Meyers, M. Lewandoski, G. R. Martin, An Fgf8 mutant allelic series generated by Cre- and Flp-mediated recombination. *Nat Genet* **18**, 136-141 (1998).
- 18. L. D. Urness, C. N. Paxton, X. Wang, G. C. Schoenwolf, S. L. Mansour, FGF signaling regulates otic placode induction and refinement by controlling both ectodermal target genes and hindbrain Wnt8a. *Dev Biol* **340**, 595-604 (2010).
- 19. K. Maulding, M. S. Padanad, J. Dong, B. B. Riley, Mesodermal Fgf10b cooperates with other fibroblast growth factors during induction of otic and epibranchial placodes in zebrafish. *Dev Dyn* **243**, 1275-1285 (2014).
- 20. U. Pirvola *et al.*, FGFR1 is required for the development of the auditory sensory epithelium. *Neuron* **35**, 671-680 (2002).

- S. H. Huh, J. Jones, M. E. Warchol, D. M. Ornitz, Differentiation of the lateral compartment of the cochlea requires a temporally restricted FGF20 signal. *PLoS Biol* 10, e1001231 (2012).
- 22. S. K. Olsen *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) homologous factors share structural but not functional homology with FGFs. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 34226-34236 (2003).
- 23. M. Goldfarb *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor homologous factors control neuronal excitability through modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels. *Neuron* **55**, 449-463 (2007).
- 24. J. Y. Lou *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 14 is an intracellular modulator of voltage-gated sodium channels. *J Physiol* **569**, 179-193 (2005).
- 25. C. Wang *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor homologous factor 13 regulates Na+ channels and conduction velocity in murine hearts. *Circ Res* **109**, 775-782 (2011).
- 26. Q. F. Wu *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 13 is a microtubule-stabilizing protein regulating neuronal polarization and migration. *Cell* **149**, 1549-1564 (2012).
- 27. Q. Wang *et al.*, Ataxia and paroxysmal dyskinesia in mice lacking axonally transported FGF14. *Neuron* **35**, 25-38 (2002).
- D. F. Wozniak, M. Xiao, L. Xu, K. A. Yamada, D. M. Ornitz, Impaired spatial learning and defective theta burst induced LTP in mice lacking fibroblast growth factor 14. *Neurobiol Dis* 26, 14-26 (2007).
- 29. R. Goetz *et al.*, Molecular insights into the klotho-dependent, endocrine mode of action of fibroblast growth factor 19 subfamily members. *Mol Cell Biol* **27**, 3417-3428 (2007).
- 30. J. Gattineni *et al.*, Regulation of renal phosphate transport by FGF23 is mediated by FGFR1 and FGFR4. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **306**, F351-358 (2014).
- 31. J. Gattineni, K. Twombley, R. Goetz, M. Mohammadi, M. Baum, Regulation of serum 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 levels by fibroblast growth factor 23 is mediated by FGF receptors 3 and 4. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **301**, F371-377 (2011).
- 32. A. Martin *et al.*, Bone proteins PHEX and DMP1 regulate fibroblastic growth factor Fgf23 expression in osteocytes through a common pathway involving FGF receptor (FGFR) signaling. *FASEB J* **25**, 2551-2562 (2011).
- 33. M. Kuro-o *et al.*, Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* **390**, 45-51 (1997).
- 34. T. Berndt, R. Kumar, Phosphatonins and the regulation of phosphate homeostasis. *Annu Rev Physiol* **69**, 341-359 (2007).
- 35. T. Shimada *et al.*, Targeted ablation of Fgf23 demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* **113**, 561-568 (2004).
- 36. A. Consortium, Autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets is associated with mutations in FGF23. *Nat Genet* **26**, 345-348 (2000).
- 37. W. H. Hoffman, H. W. Jueppner, B. R. Deyoung, S. O'Dorisio M, K. S. Given, Elevated fibroblast growth factor-23 in hypophosphatemic linear nevus sebaceous syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* 134, 233-236 (2005).

- A. Benet-Pages, P. Orlik, T. M. Strom, B. Lorenz-Depiereux, An FGF23 missense mutation causes familial tumoral calcinosis with hyperphosphatemia. *Hum Mol Genet* 14, 385-390 (2005).
- 39. T. Nishimura, Y. Nakatake, M. Konishi, N. Itoh, Identification of a novel FGF, FGF-21, preferentially expressed in the liver. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1492**, 203-206 (2000).
- 40. H. Wang, L. Qiang, S. R. Farmer, Identification of a domain within peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma regulating expression of a group of genes containing fibroblast growth factor 21 that are selectively repressed by SIRT1 in adipocytes. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 188-200 (2008).
- 41. C. L. Johnson *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 reduces the severity of cerulein-induced pancreatitis in mice. *Gastroenterology* **137**, 1795-1804 (2009).
- 42. Y. Izumiya *et al.*, FGF21 is an Akt-regulated myokine. *FEBS Lett* **582**, 3805-3810 (2008).
- 43. E. Hondares *et al.*, Hepatic FGF21 expression is induced at birth via PPARalpha in response to milk intake and contributes to thermogenic activation of neonatal brown fat. *Cell Metab* **11**, 206-212 (2010).
- 44. S. Ito *et al.*, Molecular cloning and expression analyses of mouse betaklotho, which encodes a novel Klotho family protein. *Mech Dev* **98**, 115-119 (2000).
- 45. M. K. Badman, A. Koester, J. S. Flier, A. Kharitonenkov, E. Maratos-Flier, Fibroblast growth factor 21-deficient mice demonstrate impaired adaptation to ketosis. *Endocrinology* **150**, 4931-4940 (2009).
- 46. A. C. Adams *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 is not required for the antidiabetic actions of the thiazoladinediones. *Mol Metab* **2**, 205-214 (2013).
- 47. A. Kharitonenkov *et al.*, FGF-21 as a novel metabolic regulator. *J Clin Invest* **115**, 1627-1635 (2005).
- 48. T. Coskun *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 corrects obesity in mice. *Endocrinology* **149**, 6018-6027 (2008).
- 49. A. C. Adams, C. C. Cheng, T. Coskun, A. Kharitonenkov, FGF21 requires betaklotho to act in vivo. *PLoS One* **7**, e49977 (2012).
- 50. F. M. Fisher *et al.*, FGF21 regulates PGC-1alpha and browning of white adipose tissues in adaptive thermogenesis. *Genes Dev* **26**, 271-281 (2012).
- 51. A. C. Adams *et al.*, The breadth of FGF21's metabolic actions are governed by FGFR1 in adipose tissue. *Mol Metab* **2**, 31-37 (2012).
- 52. R. J. Samms *et al.*, Discrete Aspects of FGF21 In Vivo Pharmacology Do Not Require UCP1. *Cell Rep* **11**, 991-999 (2015).
- 53. D. A. Sarruf *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 action in the brain increases energy expenditure and insulin sensitivity in obese rats. *Diabetes* **59**, 1817-1824 (2010).
- 54. B. M. Owen *et al.*, FGF21 acts centrally to induce sympathetic nerve activity, energy expenditure, and weight loss. *Cell Metab* **20**, 670-677 (2014).

- 55. A. L. Bookout *et al.*, FGF21 regulates metabolism and circadian behavior by acting on the nervous system. *Nat Med* **19**, 1147-1152 (2013).
- 56. A. Y. Chu *et al.*, Novel locus including FGF21 is associated with dietary macronutrient intake. *Hum Mol Genet* **22**, 1895-1902 (2013).
- 57. T. Tanaka *et al.*, Genome-wide meta-analysis of observational studies shows common genetic variants associated with macronutrient intake. *Am J Clin Nutr* **97**, 1395-1402 (2013).
- 58. M. Zhang, L. Zeng, Y. J. Wang, Z. M. An, B. W. Ying, Associations of fibroblast growth factor 21 gene 3' untranslated region single-nucleotide polymorphisms with metabolic syndrome, obesity, and diabetes in a Han Chinese population. *DNA Cell Biol* **31**, 547-552 (2012).
- 59. T. J. Wright *et al.*, Mouse FGF15 is the ortholog of human and chick FGF19, but is not uniquely required for otic induction. *Dev Biol* **269**, 264-275 (2004).
- 60. A. C. Adams *et al.*, Fundamentals of FGF19 & FGF21 action in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS One* **7**, e38438 (2012).
- 61. L. Fu *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 19 increases metabolic rate and reverses dietary and leptin-deficient diabetes. *Endocrinology* **145**, 2594-2603 (2004).
- 62. E. Tomlinson *et al.*, Transgenic mice expressing human fibroblast growth factor-19 display increased metabolic rate and decreased adiposity. *Endocrinology* **143**, 1741-1747 (2002).
- 63. M. Choi *et al.*, Identification of a hormonal basis for gallbladder filling. *Nat Med* **12**, 1253-1255 (2006).
- 64. T. Inagaki *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 15 functions as an enterohepatic signal to regulate bile acid homeostasis. *Cell Metab* **2**, 217-225 (2005).
- 65. M. H. Xie *et al.*, FGF-19, a novel fibroblast growth factor with unique specificity for FGFR4. *Cytokine* **11**, 729-735 (1999).
- 66. A. L. Wu *et al.*, FGF19 regulates cell proliferation, glucose and bile acid metabolism via FGFR4-dependent and independent pathways. *PLoS One* **6**, e17868 (2011).
- 67. X. Wu *et al.*, FGF19-induced hepatocyte proliferation is mediated through FGFR4 activation. *J Biol Chem* **285**, 5165-5170 (2010).
- 68. B. Kong *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 15 deficiency impairs liver regeneration in mice. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **306**, G893-902 (2014).
- 69. H. K. Ho *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 regulates proliferation, anti-apoptosis and alpha-fetoprotein secretion during hepatocellular carcinoma progression and represents a potential target for therapeutic intervention. *J Hepatol* **50**, 118-127 (2009).
- K. Nicholes *et al.*, A mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma: ectopic expression of fibroblast growth factor 19 in skeletal muscle of transgenic mice. *Am J Pathol* 160, 2295-2307 (2002).
- 71. D. M. French *et al.*, Targeting FGFR4 inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma in preclinical mouse models. *PLoS One* **7**, e36713 (2012).

- R. Nusse, H. E. Varmus, Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. *Cell* **31**, 99-109 (1982).
- 73. C. Nusslein-Volhard, E. Wieschaus, Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. *Nature* **287**, 795-801 (1980).
- 74. J. Behrens *et al.*, Functional interaction of an axin homolog, conductin, with beta-catenin, APC, and GSK3beta. *Science* **280**, 596-599 (1998).
- 75. D. Kimelman, W. Xu, beta-catenin destruction complex: insights and questions from a structural perspective. *Oncogene* **25**, 7482-7491 (2006).
- 76. X. He, M. Semenov, K. Tamai, X. Zeng, LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: arrows point the way. *Development* **131**, 1663-1677 (2004).
- 77. P. Bhanot *et al.*, A new member of the frizzled family from Drosophila functions as a Wingless receptor. *Nature* **382**, 225-230 (1996).
- 78. S. Amit *et al.*, Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of beta-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes Dev* **16**, 1066-1076 (2002).
- 79. A. Cliffe, F. Hamada, M. Bienz, A role of Dishevelled in relocating Axin to the plasma membrane during wingless signaling. *Curr Biol* **13**, 960-966 (2003).
- 80. J. Behrens *et al.*, Functional interaction of beta-catenin with the transcription factor LEF-1. *Nature* **382**, 638-642 (1996).
- 81. M. Molenaar *et al.*, XTcf-3 transcription factor mediates beta-catenin-induced axis formation in Xenopus embryos. *Cell* **86**, 391-399 (1996).
- F. Reichsman, L. Smith, S. Cumberledge, Glycosaminoglycans can modulate extracellular localization of the wingless protein and promote signal transduction. *J Cell Biol* 135, 819-827 (1996).
- 83. K. Willert *et al.*, Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. *Nature* **423**, 448-452 (2003).
- 84. Y. Wang, J. Nathans, Tissue/planar cell polarity in vertebrates: new insights and new questions. *Development* **134**, 647-658 (2007).
- 85. M. T. Veeman, J. D. Axelrod, R. T. Moon, A second canon. Functions and mechanisms of beta-catenin-independent Wnt signaling. *Dev Cell* **5**, 367-377 (2003).
- 86. S. Eaton, R. Wepf, K. Simons, Roles for Rac1 and Cdc42 in planar polarization and hair outgrowth in the wing of Drosophila. *J Cell Biol* **135**, 1277-1289 (1996).
- 87. D. I. Strutt, U. Weber, M. Mlodzik, The role of RhoA in tissue polarity and Frizzled signalling. *Nature* **387**, 292-295 (1997).
- 88. A. D. Kohn, R. T. Moon, Wnt and calcium signaling: beta-catenin-independent pathways. *Cell Calcium* **38**, 439-446 (2005).
- 89. D. C. Slusarski, V. G. Corces, R. T. Moon, Interaction of Wnt and a Frizzled homologue triggers G-protein-linked phosphatidylinositol signalling. *Nature* **390**, 410-413 (1997).

- 90. L. C. Sheldahl *et al.*, Dishevelled activates Ca2+ flux, PKC, and CamKII in vertebrate embryos. *J Cell Biol* **161**, 769-777 (2003).
- 91. J. Noordermeer, J. Klingensmith, N. Perrimon, R. Nusse, dishevelled and armadillo act in the wingless signalling pathway in Drosophila. *Nature* **367**, 80-83 (1994).
- 92. M. Peifer, D. Sweeton, M. Casey, E. Wieschaus, wingless signal and Zeste-white 3 kinase trigger opposing changes in the intracellular distribution of Armadillo. *Development* **120**, 369-380 (1994).
- 93. E. Siegfried, T. B. Chou, N. Perrimon, wingless signaling acts through zeste-white 3, the Drosophila homolog of glycogen synthase kinase-3, to regulate engrailed and establish cell fate. *Cell* **71**, 1167-1179 (1992).
- 94. A. P. McMahon, R. T. Moon, Ectopic expression of the proto-oncogene int-1 in Xenopus embryos leads to duplication of the embryonic axis. *Cell* **58**, 1075-1084 (1989).
- R. C. Lindsley, J. G. Gill, M. Kyba, T. L. Murphy, K. M. Murphy, Canonical Wnt signaling is required for development of embryonic stem cell-derived mesoderm. *Development* 133, 3787-3796 (2006).
- 96. H. Y. Lee *et al.*, Instructive role of Wnt/beta-catenin in sensory fate specification in neural crest stem cells. *Science* **303**, 1020-1023 (2004).
- 97. P. Bouillet *et al.*, A new mouse member of the Wnt gene family, mWnt-8, is expressed during early embryogenesis and is ectopically induced by retinoic acid. *Mech Dev* 58, 141-152 (1996).
- C. Kemp, E. Willems, S. Abdo, L. Lambiv, L. Leyns, Expression of all Wnt genes and their secreted antagonists during mouse blastocyst and postimplantation development. *Dev Dyn* 233, 1064-1075 (2005).
- 99. J. Huelsken *et al.*, Requirement for beta-catenin in anterior-posterior axis formation in mice. *J Cell Biol* **148**, 567-578 (2000).
- 100. V. Korinek *et al.*, Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. *Nat Genet* **19**, 379-383 (1998).
- 101. J. Huelsken, R. Vogel, B. Erdmann, G. Cotsarelis, W. Birchmeier, beta-Catenin controls hair follicle morphogenesis and stem cell differentiation in the skin. *Cell* **105**, 533-545 (2001).
- 102. W. E. Lowry *et al.*, Defining the impact of beta-catenin/Tcf transactivation on epithelial stem cells. *Genes Dev* **19**, 1596-1611 (2005).
- 103. P. S. Eriksson *et al.*, Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nat Med* **4**, 1313-1317 (1998).
- 104. G. Kronenberg *et al.*, Subpopulations of proliferating cells of the adult hippocampus respond differently to physiologic neurogenic stimuli. *J Comp Neurol* **467**, 455-463 (2003).
- 105. J. S. Snyder, N. Kee, J. M. Wojtowicz, Effects of adult neurogenesis on synaptic plasticity in the rat dentate gyrus. *J Neurophysiol* **85**, 2423-2431 (2001).

- 106. C. A. Denny, N. S. Burghardt, D. M. Schachter, R. Hen, M. R. Drew, 4- to 6-week-old adult-born hippocampal neurons influence novelty-evoked exploration and contextual fear conditioning. *Hippocampus* 22, 1188-1201 (2012).
- 107. Y. Gu *et al.*, Optical controlling reveals time-dependent roles for adult-born dentate granule cells. *Nat Neurosci* **15**, 1700-1706 (2012).
- 108. D. C. Lie *et al.*, Wnt signalling regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Nature* **437**, 1370-1375 (2005).
- 109. E. M. Wexler, A. Paucer, H. I. Kornblum, T. D. Palmer, D. H. Geschwind, Endogenous Wnt signaling maintains neural progenitor cell potency. *Stem Cells* 27, 1130-1141 (2009).
- 110. K. W. Kinzler *et al.*, Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. *Science* **253**, 661-665 (1991).
- 111. K. W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. *Cell* 87, 159-170 (1996).
- 112. M. van de Wetering *et al.*, The beta-catenin/TCF-4 complex imposes a crypt progenitor phenotype on colorectal cancer cells. *Cell* **111**, 241-250 (2002).
- 113. E. Batlle *et al.*, Beta-catenin and TCF mediate cell positioning in the intestinal epithelium by controlling the expression of EphB/ephrinB. *Cell* **111**, 251-263 (2002).
- 114. M. H. Donovan *et al.*, Decreased adult hippocampal neurogenesis in the PDAPP mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Comp Neurol* **495**, 70-83 (2006).
- 115. J. J. Rodriguez *et al.*, Impaired adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of a triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One* **3**, e2935 (2008).
- 116. E. P. Moreno-Jimenez *et al.*, Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is abundant in neurologically healthy subjects and drops sharply in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* **25**, 554-560 (2019).
- 117. B. Li *et al.*, Failure of neuronal maturation in Alzheimer disease dentate gyrus. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* **67**, 78-84 (2008).
- 118. N. C. Inestrosa, L. Varela-Nallar, Wnt signaling in the nervous system and in Alzheimer's disease. *J Mol Cell Biol* **6**, 64-74 (2014).
- 119. N. C. Inestrosa, S. Urra, M. Colombres, Acetylcholinesterase (AChE)--amyloid-betapeptide complexes in Alzheimer's disease. the Wnt signaling pathway. *Curr Alzheimer Res* **1**, 249-254 (2004).
- 120. N. Inestrosa *et al.*, Wnt signaling involvement in beta-amyloid-dependent neurodegeneration. *Neurochem Int* **41**, 341-344 (2002).
- 121. A. Caricasole *et al.*, Induction of Dickkopf-1, a negative modulator of the Wnt pathway, is associated with neuronal degeneration in Alzheimer's brain. *J Neurosci* **24**, 6021-6027 (2004).
- 122. C. E. Humphries *et al.*, Integrated whole transcriptome and DNA methylation analysis identifies gene networks specific to late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* **44**, 977-987 (2015).

- 123. J. Riise, N. Plath, B. Pakkenberg, A. Parachikova, Aberrant Wnt signaling pathway in medial temporal lobe structures of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)* 122, 1303-1318 (2015).
- 124. J. Folke, B. Pakkenberg, T. Brudek, Impaired Wnt Signaling in the Prefrontal Cortex of Alzheimer's Disease. *Mol Neurobiol* **56**, 873-891 (2019).
- 125. G. V. De Ferrari *et al.*, Common genetic variation within the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 6 and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 9434-9439 (2007).
- 126. M. A. Alarcon *et al.*, A novel functional low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 6 gene alternative splice variant is associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 34, 1709 e1709-1718 (2013).
- 127. S. M. Foord *et al.*, International Union of Pharmacology. XLVI. G protein-coupled receptor list. *Pharmacol Rev* 57, 279-288 (2005).
- 128. R. B. Pepinsky *et al.*, Identification of a palmitic acid-modified form of human Sonic hedgehog. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 14037-14045 (1998).
- 129. K. Hofmann, A superfamily of membrane-bound O-acyltransferases with implications for wnt signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci* **25**, 111-112 (2000).
- 130. J. A. Buglino, M. D. Resh, Hhat is a palmitoylacyltransferase with specificity for N-palmitoylation of Sonic Hedgehog. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 22076-22088 (2008).
- 131. Z. Chamoun *et al.*, Skinny hedgehog, an acyltransferase required for palmitoylation and activity of the hedgehog signal. *Science* **293**, 2080-2084 (2001).
- 132. K. Amanai, J. Jiang, Distinct roles of Central missing and Dispatched in sending the Hedgehog signal. *Development* **128**, 5119-5127 (2001).
- 133. J. A. Porter *et al.*, Hedgehog patterning activity: role of a lipophilic modification mediated by the carboxy-terminal autoprocessing domain. *Cell* **86**, 21-34 (1996).
- 134. J. A. Porter, K. E. Young, P. A. Beachy, Cholesterol modification of hedgehog signaling proteins in animal development. *Science* **274**, 255-259 (1996).
- 135. D. M. Stone *et al.*, The tumour-suppressor gene patched encodes a candidate receptor for Sonic hedgehog. *Nature* **384**, 129-134 (1996).
- 136. Y. Chen, G. Struhl, In vivo evidence that Patched and Smoothened constitute distinct binding and transducing components of a Hedgehog receptor complex. *Development* 125, 4943-4948 (1998).
- 137. C. B. Bai, D. Stephen, A. L. Joyner, All mouse ventral spinal cord patterning by hedgehog is Gli dependent and involves an activator function of Gli3. *Dev Cell* **6**, 103-115 (2004).
- 138. J. Lee, K. A. Platt, P. Censullo, A. Ruiz i Altaba, Gli1 is a target of Sonic hedgehog that induces ventral neural tube development. *Development* **124**, 2537-2552 (1997).
- 139. H. L. Park *et al.*, Mouse Gli1 mutants are viable but have defects in SHH signaling in combination with a Gli2 mutation. *Development* **127**, 1593-1605 (2000).

- 140. E. A. Barnes, M. Kong, V. Ollendorff, D. J. Donoghue, Patched1 interacts with cyclin B1 to regulate cell cycle progression. *EMBO J* **20**, 2214-2223 (2001).
- 141. S. Testaz *et al.*, Sonic hedgehog restricts adhesion and migration of neural crest cells independently of the Patched- Smoothened-Gli signaling pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**, 12521-12526 (2001).
- 142. C. Thibert *et al.*, Inhibition of neuroepithelial patched-induced apoptosis by sonic hedgehog. *Science* **301**, 843-846 (2003).
- 143. O. Nolan-Stevaux *et al.*, GLI1 is regulated through Smoothened-independent mechanisms in neoplastic pancreatic ducts and mediates PDAC cell survival and transformation. *Genes Dev* 23, 24-36 (2009).
- 144. J. Zhou *et al.*, Non-canonical GLI1/2 activation by PI3K/AKT signaling in renal cell carcinoma: A novel potential therapeutic target. *Cancer Lett* **370**, 313-323 (2016).
- 145. T. Lapidot *et al.*, A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature* **367**, 645-648 (1994).
- 146. D. Bonnet, J. E. Dick, Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nat Med* **3**, 730-737 (1997).
- 147. C. A. O'Brien, A. Pollett, S. Gallinger, J. E. Dick, A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nature* **445**, 106-110 (2007).
- 148. P. Dalerba *et al.*, Phenotypic characterization of human colorectal cancer stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 10158-10163 (2007).
- 149. A. G. Schepers *et al.*, Lineage tracing reveals Lgr5+ stem cell activity in mouse intestinal adenomas. *Science* **337**, 730-735 (2012).
- 150. J. N. Anastas, R. T. Moon, WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **13**, 11-26 (2013).
- 151. B. St-Jacques *et al.*, Sonic hedgehog signaling is essential for hair development. *Curr Biol* **8**, 1058-1068 (1998).
- 152. K. Kruger, U. Blume-Peytavi, C. E. Orfanos, Basal cell carcinoma possibly originates from the outer root sheath and/or the bulge region of the vellus hair follicle. *Arch Dermatol Res* **291**, 253-259 (1999).
- 153. J. Xie *et al.*, Activating Smoothened mutations in sporadic basal-cell carcinoma. *Nature* **391**, 90-92 (1998).
- 154. H. Hahn *et al.*, Mutations of the human homolog of Drosophila patched in the nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome. *Cell* **85**, 841-851 (1996).
- 155. R. L. Johnson *et al.*, Human homolog of patched, a candidate gene for the basal cell nevus syndrome. *Science* **272**, 1668-1671 (1996).
- 156. G. Y. Wang, J. Wang, M. L. Mancianti, E. H. Epstein, Jr., Basal cell carcinomas arise from hair follicle stem cells in Ptch1(+/-) mice. *Cancer Cell* **19**, 114-124 (2011).
- 157. S. C. Peterson *et al.*, Basal cell carcinoma preferentially arises from stem cells within hair follicle and mechanosensory niches. *Cell Stem Cell* **16**, 400-412 (2015).

- 158. A. E. Oro *et al.*, Basal cell carcinomas in mice overexpressing sonic hedgehog. *Science* **276**, 817-821 (1997).
- 159. M. Nilsson *et al.*, Induction of basal cell carcinomas and trichoepitheliomas in mice overexpressing GLI-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 3438-3443 (2000).
- 160. K. Juraschka, M. D. Taylor, Medulloblastoma in the age of molecular subgroups: a review. *J Neurosurg Pediatr* 24, 353-363 (2019).
- 161. T. Pietsch *et al.*, Medulloblastomas of the desmoplastic variant carry mutations of the human homologue of Drosophila patched. *Cancer Res* **57**, 2085-2088 (1997).
- 162. P. A. Northcott *et al.*, The whole-genome landscape of medulloblastoma subtypes. *Nature* **547**, 311-317 (2017).
- 163. M. E. Hatten, N. Heintz, Mechanisms of neural patterning and specification in the developing cerebellum. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **18**, 385-408 (1995).
- 164. A. M. Kenney, M. D. Cole, D. H. Rowitch, Nmyc upregulation by sonic hedgehog signaling promotes proliferation in developing cerebellar granule neuron precursors. *Development* 130, 15-28 (2003).
- 165. A. R. Hallahan *et al.*, The SmoA1 mouse model reveals that notch signaling is critical for the growth and survival of sonic hedgehog-induced medulloblastomas. *Cancer Res* 64, 7794-7800 (2004).
- 166. Z. J. Yang *et al.*, Medulloblastoma can be initiated by deletion of Patched in lineagerestricted progenitors or stem cells. *Cancer Cell* **14**, 135-145 (2008).
- 167. U. Schuller *et al.*, Acquisition of granule neuron precursor identity is a critical determinant of progenitor cell competence to form Shh-induced medulloblastoma. *Cancer Cell* **14**, 123-134 (2008).
- 168. I. Takamoto *et al.*, TCF7L2 in mouse pancreatic beta cells plays a crucial role in glucose homeostasis by regulating beta cell mass. *Diabetologia* **57**, 542-553 (2014).
- 169. R. S. Heller *et al.*, Expression of Wnt, Frizzled, sFRP, and DKK genes in adult human pancreas. *Gene Expr* **11**, 141-147 (2003).
- 170. S. Papadopoulou, H. Edlund, Attenuated Wnt signaling perturbs pancreatic growth but not pancreatic function. *Diabetes* **54**, 2844-2851 (2005).
- 171. M. Hebrok, S. K. Kim, D. A. Melton, Notochord repression of endodermal Sonic hedgehog permits pancreas development. *Genes Dev* **12**, 1705-1713 (1998).
- 172. S. K. Kim, D. A. Melton, Pancreas development is promoted by cyclopamine, a hedgehog signaling inhibitor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**, 13036-13041 (1998).
- 173. M. Hebrok, S. K. Kim, B. St Jacques, A. P. McMahon, D. A. Melton, Regulation of pancreas development by hedgehog signaling. *Development* **127**, 4905-4913 (2000).
- 174. A. Apelqvist, U. Ahlgren, H. Edlund, Sonic hedgehog directs specialised mesoderm differentiation in the intestine and pancreas. *Curr Biol* **7**, 801-804 (1997).
- 175. H. Kawahira *et al.*, Combined activities of hedgehog signaling inhibitors regulate pancreas development. *Development* **130**, 4871-4879 (2003).
- 176. S. F. Grant *et al.*, Variant of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene confers risk of type 2 diabetes. *Nat Genet* **38**, 320-323 (2006).
- 177. J. C. Florez *et al.*, TCF7L2 polymorphisms and progression to diabetes in the Diabetes Prevention Program. *N Engl J Med* **355**, 241-250 (2006).
- 178. C. J. Groves *et al.*, Association analysis of 6,736 U.K. subjects provides replication and confirms TCF7L2 as a type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene with a substantial effect on individual risk. *Diabetes* **55**, 2640-2644 (2006).
- 179. L. Shu *et al.*, Decreased TCF7L2 protein levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus correlate with downregulation of GIP- and GLP-1 receptors and impaired beta-cell function. *Hum Mol Genet* **18**, 2388-2399 (2009).
- 180. G. da Silva Xavier *et al.*, TCF7L2 regulates late events in insulin secretion from pancreatic islet beta-cells. *Diabetes* **58**, 894-905 (2009).
- 181. R. K. Mitchell *et al.*, Selective disruption of Tcf7l2 in the pancreatic beta cell impairs secretory function and lowers beta cell mass. *Hum Mol Genet* **24**, 1390-1399 (2015).
- 182. G. da Silva Xavier *et al.*, Abnormal glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in pancreas-specific Tcf7l2-null mice. *Diabetologia* **55**, 2667-2676 (2012).
- 183. W. Shao *et al.*, The expression of dominant negative TCF7L2 in pancreatic beta cells during the embryonic stage causes impaired glucose homeostasis. *Mol Metab* **4**, 344-352 (2015).
- 184. M. K. Thomas, N. Rastalsky, J. H. Lee, J. F. Habener, Hedgehog signaling regulation of insulin production by pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* **49**, 2039-2047 (2000).
- 185. J. Lau, M. Hebrok, Hedgehog signaling in pancreas epithelium regulates embryonic organ formation and adult beta-cell function. *Diabetes* **59**, 1211-1221 (2010).
- 186. C. N. Bennett *et al.*, Regulation of Wnt signaling during adipogenesis. *J Biol Chem* 277, 30998-31004 (2002).
- 187. S. E. Ross *et al.*, Inhibition of adipogenesis by Wnt signaling. *Science* **289**, 950-953 (2000).
- 188. K. A. Longo *et al.*, Wnt10b inhibits development of white and brown adipose tissues. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 35503-35509 (2004).
- 189. C. Christodoulides *et al.*, WNT10B mutations in human obesity. *Diabetologia* **49**, 678-684 (2006).
- 190. Z. J. Ward *et al.*, Projected U.S. State-Level Prevalence of Adult Obesity and Severe Obesity. *The New England journal of medicine* **381**, 2440-2450 (2019).
- 191. M. Bluher, Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* **15**, 288-298 (2019).
- 192. R. K. Singh, P. Kumar, K. Mahalingam, Molecular genetics of human obesity: A comprehensive review. *C R Biol* **340**, 87-108 (2017).
- 193. J. F. Reiter, M. R. Leroux, Genes and molecular pathways underpinning ciliopathies. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **18**, 533-547 (2017).

- 194. E. Forsythe, J. Kenny, C. Bacchelli, P. L. Beales, Managing Bardet-Biedl Syndrome-Now and in the Future. *Front Pediatr* **6**, 23 (2018).
- 195. S. Khan *et al.*, BBS5 and INPP5E mutations associated with ciliopathy disorders in families from Pakistan. *Ann Hum Genet* **83**, 477-482 (2019).
- 196. S. Mujahid *et al.*, The Endocrine and Metabolic Characteristics of a Large Bardet-Biedl Syndrome Clinic Population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **103**, 1834-1841 (2018).
- 197. G. Billingsley *et al.*, Mutations in chaperonin-like BBS genes are a major contributor to disease development in a multiethnic Bardet-Biedl syndrome patient population. *J Med Genet* **47**, 453-463 (2010).
- 198. S. A. Khan *et al.*, Genetics of human Bardet-Biedl syndrome, an updates. *Clin Genet* **90**, 3-15 (2016).
- 199. C. C. Leitch *et al.*, Hypomorphic mutations in syndromic encephalocele genes are associated with Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Nature genetics* **40**, 443-448 (2008).
- 200. C. Stoetzel *et al.*, Identification of a novel BBS gene (BBS12) highlights the major role of a vertebrate-specific branch of chaperonin-related proteins in Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet* **80**, 1-11 (2007).
- 201. A. M. Waters, P. L. Beales, Ciliopathies: an expanding disease spectrum. *Pediatr Nephrol* **26**, 1039-1056 (2011).
- 202. N. F. Berbari, J. S. Lewis, G. A. Bishop, C. C. Askwith, K. Mykytyn, Bardet-Biedl syndrome proteins are required for the localization of G protein-coupled receptors to primary cilia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 4242-4246 (2008).
- 203. J. S. Domire *et al.*, Dopamine receptor 1 localizes to neuronal cilia in a dynamic process that requires the Bardet-Biedl syndrome proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **68**, 2951-2960 (2011).
- 204. H. Jin *et al.*, The conserved Bardet-Biedl syndrome proteins assemble a coat that traffics membrane proteins to cilia. *Cell* **141**, 1208-1219 (2010).
- 205. G. M. Liew *et al.*, The intraflagellar transport protein IFT27 promotes BBSome exit from cilia through the GTPase ARL6/BBS3. *Dev Cell* **31**, 265-278 (2014).
- 206. M. V. Nachury *et al.*, A core complex of BBS proteins cooperates with the GTPase Rab8 to promote ciliary membrane biogenesis. *Cell* **129**, 1201-1213 (2007).
- 207. S. Seo *et al.*, BBS6, BBS10, and BBS12 form a complex with CCT/TRiC family chaperonins and mediate BBSome assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 1488-1493 (2010).
- 208. N. M. Kamal *et al.*, Whole exome sequencing identifies rare biallelic ALMS1 missense and stop gain mutations in familial Alstrom syndrome patients. *Saudi J Biol Sci* **27**, 271-278 (2020).
- 209. J. D. Marshall, P. Maffei, G. B. Collin, J. K. Naggert, Alstrom syndrome: genetics and clinical overview. *Curr Genomics* **12**, 225-235 (2011).
- 210. J. D. Marshall *et al.*, Alstrom Syndrome: Mutation Spectrum of ALMS1. *Hum Mutat* **36**, 660-668 (2015).

- 211. J. C. Han *et al.*, Comprehensive Endocrine-Metabolic Evaluation of Patients With Alstrom Syndrome Compared With BMI-Matched Controls. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 103, 2707-2719 (2018).
- 212. T. Hearn *et al.*, Mutation of ALMS1, a large gene with a tandem repeat encoding 47 amino acids, causes Alstrom syndrome. *Nature genetics* **31**, 79-83 (2002).
- 213. D. Heydet *et al.*, A truncating mutation of Alms1 reduces the number of hypothalamic neuronal cilia in obese mice. *Dev Neurobiol* **73**, 1-13 (2013).
- 214. D. Jagger *et al.*, Alstrom Syndrome protein ALMS1 localizes to basal bodies of cochlear hair cells and regulates cilium-dependent planar cell polarity. *Hum Mol Genet* 20, 466-481 (2011).
- 215. V. J. Knorz *et al.*, Centriolar association of ALMS1 and likely centrosomal functions of the ALMS motif-containing proteins C10orf90 and KIAA1731. *Mol Biol Cell* 21, 3617-3629 (2010).
- 216. G. Li *et al.*, A role for Alstrom syndrome protein, alms1, in kidney ciliogenesis and cellular quiescence. *PLoS genetics* **3**, e8 (2007).
- 217. T. H. Collet *et al.*, Evaluation of a melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R) agonist (Setmelanotide) in MC4R deficiency. *Mol Metab* **6**, 1321-1329 (2017).
- 218. I. Eneli *et al.*, Tracing the effect of the melanocortin-4 receptor pathway in obesity: study design and methodology of the TEMPO registry. *Appl Clin Genet* **12**, 87-93 (2019).
- 219. T. S. Pottorf *et al.*, MetAP2 inhibition reduces food intake and body weight in a ciliopathy mouse model of obesity. *JCI Insight* **5** (2020).
- 220. T. E. Hughes *et al.*, Ascending dose-controlled trial of beloranib, a novel obesity treatment for safety, tolerability, and weight loss in obese women. *Obesity* **21**, 1782-1788 (2013).
- 221. S. E. McCandless *et al.*, Effects of MetAP2 inhibition on hyperphagia and body weight in Prader-Willi syndrome: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab* **19**, 1751-1761 (2017).
- 222. D. J. Hampshire *et al.*, MORM syndrome (mental retardation, truncal obesity, retinal dystrophy and micropenis), a new autosomal recessive disorder, links to 9q34. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* **14**, 543-548 (2006).
- 223. J. L. Alessandri *et al.*, RAB23 mutation in a large family from Comoros Islands with Carpenter syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* **152A**, 982-986 (2010).
- 224. S. Ben-Salem, M. A. Begum, B. R. Ali, L. Al-Gazali, A Novel Aberrant Splice Site Mutation in RAB23 Leads to an Eight Nucleotide Deletion in the mRNA and Is Responsible for Carpenter Syndrome in a Consanguineous Emirati Family. *Mol Syndromol* 3, 255-261 (2013).
- 225. D. Jenkins *et al.*, RAB23 mutations in Carpenter syndrome imply an unexpected role for hedgehog signaling in cranial-suture development and obesity. *Am J Hum Genet* 80, 1162-1170 (2007).

- 226. M. Jacoby *et al.*, INPP5E mutations cause primary cilium signaling defects, ciliary instability and ciliopathies in human and mouse. *Nature genetics* **41**, 1027-1031 (2009).
- 227. S. E. Conduit *et al.*, A compartmentalized phosphoinositide signaling axis at cilia is regulated by INPP5E to maintain cilia and promote Sonic Hedgehog medulloblastoma. *Oncogene* **36**, 5969-5984 (2017).
- 228. J. M. Dyson *et al.*, INPP5E regulates phosphoinositide-dependent cilia transition zone function. *The Journal of cell biology* **216**, 247-263 (2017).
- 229. F. R. Garcia-Gonzalo *et al.*, Phosphoinositides Regulate Ciliary Protein Trafficking to Modulate Hedgehog Signaling. *Dev Cell* **34**, 400-409 (2015).
- 230. C. Boehlke *et al.*, Differential role of Rab proteins in ciliary trafficking: Rab23 regulates smoothened levels. *J Cell Sci* **123**, 1460-1467 (2010).
- 231. J. T. Eggenschwiler, O. V. Bulgakov, J. Qin, T. Li, K. V. Anderson, Mouse Rab23 regulates hedgehog signaling from smoothened to Gli proteins. *Dev Biol* 290, 1-12 (2006).
- 232. T. M. Evans, F. Simpson, R. G. Parton, C. Wicking, Characterization of Rab23, a negative regulator of sonic hedgehog signaling. *Methods Enzymol* **403**, 759-777 (2005).
- 233. A. Leaf, M. Von Zastrow, Dopamine receptors reveal an essential role of IFT-B, KIF17, and Rab23 in delivering specific receptors to primary cilia. *Elife* **4** (2015).
- 234. D. Kopinke, A. M. Norris, S. Mukhopadhyay, Developmental and regenerative paradigms of cilia regulated hedgehog signaling. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **110**, 89-103 (2021).
- 235. E. Roessler *et al.*, Mutations in the C-terminal domain of Sonic Hedgehog cause holoprosencephaly. *Hum Mol Genet* **6**, 1847-1853 (1997).
- 236. E. Roessler *et al.*, Loss-of-function mutations in the human GLI2 gene are associated with pituitary anomalies and holoprosencephaly-like features. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 13424-13429 (2003).
- 237. H. S. Heussler, M. Suri, I. D. Young, M. Muenke, Extreme variability of expression of a Sonic Hedgehog mutation: attention difficulties and holoprosencephaly. *Archives of disease in childhood* 86, 293-296 (2002).
- 238. B. Gao *et al.*, Mutations in IHH, encoding Indian hedgehog, cause brachydactyly type A-1. *Nat Genet* **28**, 386-388 (2001).
- 239. A. M. Byrnes *et al.*, Brachydactyly A-1 mutations restricted to the central region of the N-terminal active fragment of Indian Hedgehog. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* **17**, 1112-1120 (2009).
- 240. J. Hellemans *et al.*, Homozygous mutations in IHH cause acrocapitofemoral dysplasia, an autosomal recessive disorder with cone-shaped epiphyses in hands and hips. *Am J Hum Genet* **72**, 1040-1046 (2003).
- 241. F. Umehara *et al.*, A novel mutation of desert hedgehog in a patient with 46,XY partial gonadal dysgenesis accompanied by minifascicular neuropathy. *Am J Hum Genet* **67**, 1302-1305 (2000).

- 242. R. Werner *et al.*, 46,XY Gonadal Dysgenesis due to a Homozygous Mutation in Desert Hedgehog (DHH) Identified by Exome Sequencing. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **100**, E1022-1029 (2015).
- 243. J. L. Tobin, P. L. Beales, The nonmotile ciliopathies. *Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics* **11**, 386-402 (2009).
- 244. F. Bangs, K. V. Anderson, Primary Cilia and Mammalian Hedgehog Signaling. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* **9** (2017).
- 245. M. Korostishevsky *et al.*, Morphological and biochemical features of obesity are associated with mineralization genes' polymorphisms. *International journal of obesity* **34**, 1308-1318 (2010).
- 246. A. Shalata *et al.*, Morbid obesity resulting from inactivation of the ciliary protein CEP19 in humans and mice. *Am J Hum Genet* **93**, 1061-1071 (2013).
- 247. G. Carr *et al.*, The pyrophosphate transporter ANKH is expressed in kidney and bone cells and colocalises to the primary cilium/basal body complex. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **24**, 595-604 (2009).
- 248. D. Harmey *et al.*, Concerted regulation of inorganic pyrophosphate and osteopontin by akp2, enpp1, and ank: an integrated model of the pathogenesis of mineralization disorders. *Am J Pathol* **164**, 1199-1209 (2004).
- 249. N. K. Lee *et al.*, Endocrine regulation of energy metabolism by the skeleton. *Cell* **130**, 456-469 (2007).
- 250. Y. Nishijima *et al.*, RABL2 interacts with the intraflagellar transport-B complex and CEP19 and participates in ciliary assembly. *Mol Biol Cell* **28**, 1652-1666 (2017).
- 251. I. Dateyama *et al.*, RABL2 positively controls localization of GPCRs in mammalian primary cilia. *J Cell Sci* **132** (2019).
- 252. G. A. Bishop, N. F. Berbari, J. Lewis, K. Mykytyn, Type III adenylyl cyclase localizes to primary cilia throughout the adult mouse brain. *J Comp Neurol* **505**, 562-571 (2007).
- 253. I. Brailov *et al.*, Localization of 5-HT(6) receptors at the plasma membrane of neuronal cilia in the rat brain. *Brain Res* **872**, 271-275 (2000).
- 254. M. Handel *et al.*, Selective targeting of somatostatin receptor 3 to neuronal cilia. *Neuroscience* **89**, 909-926 (1999).
- 255. T. Caspary, D. Marazziti, N. F. Berbari, Methods for Visualization of Neuronal Cilia. *Methods Mol Biol* **1454**, 203-214 (2016).
- 256. J. L. Rosenbaum, G. B. Witman, Intraflagellar transport. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **3**, 813-825 (2002).
- 257. J. R. Davenport *et al.*, Disruption of intraflagellar transport in adult mice leads to obesity and slow-onset cystic kidney disease. *Curr Biol* **17**, 1586-1594 (2007).
- 258. N. F. Berbari, A. D. Johnson, J. S. Lewis, C. C. Askwith, K. Mykytyn, Identification of ciliary localization sequences within the third intracellular loop of G protein-coupled receptors. *Mol Biol Cell* **19**, 1540-1547 (2008).

- 259. A. V. Loktev, P. K. Jackson, Neuropeptide Y family receptors traffic via the Bardet-Biedl syndrome pathway to signal in neuronal primary cilia. *Cell Rep* 5, 1316-1329 (2013).
- 260. S. Schulz, M. Handel, M. Schreff, H. Schmidt, V. Hollt, Localization of five somatostatin receptors in the rat central nervous system using subtype-specific antibodies. *J Physiol Paris* 94, 259-264 (2000).
- 261. J. E. Siljee *et al.*, Subcellular localization of MC4R with ADCY3 at neuronal primary cilia underlies a common pathway for genetic predisposition to obesity. *Nature genetics* 50, 180-185 (2018).
- 262. D. F. Guo *et al.*, The BBSome in POMC and AgRP Neurons Is Necessary for Body Weight Regulation and Sorting of Metabolic Receptors. *Diabetes* **68**, 1591-1603 (2019).
- 263. S. Nozaki, R. F. Castro Araya, Y. Katoh, K. Nakayama, Requirement of IFT-B-BBSome complex interaction in export of GPR161 from cilia. *Biol Open* 8 (2019).
- 264. S. Nozaki, Y. Katoh, T. Kobayashi, K. Nakayama, BBS1 is involved in retrograde trafficking of ciliary GPCRs in the context of the BBSome complex. *PloS one* 13, e0195005 (2018).
- 265. F. Ye, A. R. Nager, M. V. Nachury, BBSome trains remove activated GPCRs from cilia by enabling passage through the transition zone. *The Journal of cell biology* 217, 1847-1868 (2018).
- 266. Z. Wang *et al.*, Adult type 3 adenylyl cyclase-deficient mice are obese. *PloS one* **4**, e6979 (2009).
- 267. K. G. Mountjoy, M. T. Mortrud, M. J. Low, R. B. Simerly, R. D. Cone, Localization of the melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4-R) in neuroendocrine and autonomic control circuits in the brain. *Mol Endocrinol* **8**, 1298-1308 (1994).
- 268. D. Huszar *et al.*, Targeted disruption of the melanocortin-4 receptor results in obesity in mice. *Cell* **88**, 131-141 (1997).
- 269. J. C. Yi Lo *et al.*, RABL2 Is Required for Hepatic Fatty Acid Homeostasis and Its Dysfunction Leads to Steatosis and a Diabetes-Like State. *Endocrinology* **157**, 4732-4743 (2016).
- 270. D. L. Coleman, E. M. Eicher, Fat (fat) and tubby (tub): two autosomal recessive mutations causing obesity syndromes in the mouse. *J Hered* **81**, 424-427 (1990).
- 271. X. Sun *et al.*, Tubby is required for trafficking G protein-coupled receptors to neuronal cilia. *Cilia* **1**, 21 (2012).
- 272. J. A. Green, C. Gu, K. Mykytyn, Heteromerization of ciliary G protein-coupled receptors in the mouse brain. *PloS one* **7**, e46304 (2012).
- 273. S. Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, The ciliary G-protein-coupled receptor Gpr161 negatively regulates the Sonic hedgehog pathway via cAMP signaling. *Cell* **152**, 210-223 (2013).
- 274. G. V. Pusapati *et al.*, G protein-coupled receptors control the sensitivity of cells to the morphogen Sonic Hedgehog. *Sci Signal* **11** (2018).

- 275. D. K. Maurya, S. Bohm, M. Alenius, Hedgehog signaling regulates ciliary localization of mouse odorant receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **114**, E9386-E9394 (2017).
- 276. R. Bansal *et al.*, Hedgehog Pathway Activation Alters Ciliary Signaling in Primary Hypothalamic Cultures. *Front Cell Neurosci* **13**, 266 (2019).
- 277. L. L. Gathercole *et al.*, Advanced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and adipose tissue fibrosis in patients with Alstrom syndrome. *Liver Int* **36**, 1704-1712 (2016).
- 278. S. Kajimura, Adipose tissue in 2016: Advances in the understanding of adipose tissue biology. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* **13**, 69-70 (2017).
- 279. E. D. Rosen, B. M. Spiegelman, What we talk about when we talk about fat. *Cell* **156**, 20-44 (2014).
- 280. S. Galic, J. S. Oakhill, G. R. Steinberg, Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **316**, 129-139 (2010).
- 281. A. Geloen, P. E. Roy, L. J. Bukowiecki, Regression of white adipose tissue in diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol* **257**, E547-553 (1989).
- 282. M. Sakaguchi *et al.*, Adipocyte Dynamics and Reversible Metabolic Syndrome in Mice with an Inducible Adipocyte-Specific Deletion of the Insulin Receptor. *Cell metabolism* 25, 448-462 (2017).
- 283. A. G. Cristancho, M. A. Lazar, Forming functional fat: a growing understanding of adipocyte differentiation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **12**, 722-734 (2011).
- 284. D. Kopinke, E. C. Roberson, J. F. Reiter, Ciliary Hedgehog Signaling Restricts Injury-Induced Adipogenesis. *Cell* 170, 340-351 e312 (2017).
- 285. V. Marion *et al.*, Transient ciliogenesis involving Bardet-Biedl syndrome proteins is a fundamental characteristic of adipogenic differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 1820-1825 (2009).
- 286. D. Zhu, S. Shi, H. Wang, K. Liao, Growth arrest induces primary-cilium formation and sensitizes IGF-1-receptor signaling during differentiation induction of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *J Cell Sci* 122, 2760-2768 (2009).
- 287. V. Marion *et al.*, BBS-induced ciliary defect enhances adipogenesis, causing paradoxical higher-insulin sensitivity, glucose usage, and decreased inflammatory response. *Cell metabolism* **16**, 363-377 (2012).
- 288. K. I. Hilgendorf *et al.*, Omega-3 Fatty Acids Activate Ciliary FFAR4 to Control Adipogenesis. *Cell* **179**, 1289-1305 e1221 (2019).
- 289. J. A. Pospisilik *et al.*, Drosophila genome-wide obesity screen reveals hedgehog as a determinant of brown versus white adipose cell fate. *Cell* **140**, 148-160 (2010).
- 290. J. M. Suh *et al.*, Hedgehog signaling plays a conserved role in inhibiting fat formation. *Cell metabolism* **3**, 25-34 (2006).
- 291. W. Palm *et al.*, Secretion and signaling activities of lipoprotein-associated hedgehog and non-sterol-modified hedgehog in flies and mammals. *PLoS Biol* **11**, e1001505 (2013).

- 292. J. Rodenfels *et al.*, Production of systemically circulating Hedgehog by the intestine couples nutrition to growth and development. *Genes Dev* **28**, 2636-2651 (2014).
- 293. Q. Zhang, S. Seo, K. Bugge, E. M. Stone, V. C. Sheffield, BBS proteins interact genetically with the IFT pathway to influence SHH-related phenotypes. *Hum Mol Genet* 21, 1945-1953 (2012).
- 294. L. Nosavanh *et al.*, Cell-autonomous activation of Hedgehog signaling inhibits brown adipose tissue development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**, 5069-5074 (2015).
- 295. Y. Shi, F. Long, Hedgehog signaling via Gli2 prevents obesity induced by high-fat diet in adult mice. *Elife* **6** (2017).
- 296. Q. Zhang *et al.*, BBS7 is required for BBSome formation and its absence in mice results in Bardet-Biedl syndrome phenotypes and selective abnormalities in membrane protein trafficking. *Journal of cell science* **126**, 2372-2380 (2013).
- 297. M. A. Fath *et al.*, Mkks-null mice have a phenotype resembling Bardet–Biedl syndrome. *Human Molecular Genetics* **14**, 1109-1118 (2005).
- 298. D. Y. Nishimura *et al.*, Bbs2-null mice have neurosensory deficits, a defect in social dominance, and retinopathy associated with mislocalization of rhodopsin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 16588-16593 (2004).
- 299. K. Mykytyn *et al.*, Bardet-Biedl syndrome type 4 (BBS4)-null mice implicate Bbs4 in flagella formation but not global cilia assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 8664-8669 (2004).
- 300. F. C. Pan, C. Wright, Pancreas organogenesis: from bud to plexus to gland. *Dev Dyn* **240**, 530-565 (2011).
- 301. J. F. Silverman, J. Prichard, M. D. Regueiro, Fine needle aspiration cytology of a pancreatic cyst in a patient with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. A case report. *Acta Cytol* **45**, 415-419 (2001).
- 302. R. Torra *et al.*, Linkage, clinical features, and prognosis of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease types 1 and 2. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **7**, 2142-2151 (1996).
- 303. D. A. Cano, N. S. Murcia, G. J. Pazour, M. Hebrok, Orpk mouse model of polycystic kidney disease reveals essential role of primary cilia in pancreatic tissue organization. *Development* 131, 3457-3467 (2004).
- 304. Q. Zhang, J. R. Davenport, M. J. Croyle, C. J. Haycraft, B. K. Yoder, Disruption of IFT results in both exocrine and endocrine abnormalities in the pancreas of Tg737(orpk) mutant mice. *Lab Invest* **85**, 45-64 (2005).
- 305. J. M. Gerdes *et al.*, Ciliary dysfunction impairs beta-cell insulin secretion and promotes development of type 2 diabetes in rodents. *Nat Commun* **5**, 5308 (2014).
- 306. R. D. Starks *et al.*, Regulation of Insulin Receptor Trafficking by Bardet Biedl Syndrome Proteins. *PLoS genetics* **11**, e1005311 (2015).
- 307. F. Volta *et al.*, Glucose homeostasis is regulated by pancreatic beta-cell cilia via endosomal EphA-processing. *Nat Commun* **10**, 5686 (2019).

CHAPTER 2. THE ANTI-OBESITY EFFECT OF FGF19 DOES NOT REQUIRE UCP1-DEPENDENT THERMOGENESIS

A version of this chapter was previously published by Molecular Metabolism. 2019 Dec; 30: 131–139. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2019.09.006.

Patrick Antonellis was involved in the design of all experiments, data interpretation, and wrote the manuscript. He performed all experiments and analysis except hepatic bile acid analysis, metabolic cage studies, lipid tolerance tests, and 2-DG and C-14 tissue uptake experiments.

2.1 Abstract

2.1.1 Objective

Fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19) is a postprandial hormone which plays diverse roles in the regulation of bile acid, glucose, and lipid metabolism. Administration of FGF19 to obese/diabetic mice lowers body weight, improves insulin sensitivity, and enhances glycemic control. The primary target organ of FGF19 is the liver, where it regulates bile acid homeostasis in response to nutrient absorption. In contrast, the broader pharmacologic actions of FGF19 are proposed to be driven, in part, by the recruitment of the thermogenic protein uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) in white and brown adipose tissue. However, the precise contribution of UCP1-dependent thermogenesis to the therapeutic actions of FGF19 has not been critically evaluated.

2.1.2 Methods

Using WT and germline UCP1 knockout mice, the primary objective of the current investigation was to determine the in vivo pharmacology of FGF19, focusing on its thermogenic and anti-obesity activity.

2.1.3 Results

We report that FGF19 induced mRNA expression of UCP1 in adipose tissue and show that this effect is required for FGF19 to increase caloric expenditure. However, we demonstrate that neither UCP1 induction nor an elevation in caloric expenditure are necessary for FGF19 to induce weight loss in obese mice. In contrast, the anti-obesity action of FGF19 appeared to be associated with its known physiological role. In mice treated with FGF19, there was a significant reduction in the mRNA expression of genes associated with hepatic bile acid synthesis enzymes, lowered levels of hepatic bile acid species, and a significant increase in fecal energy content, all indicative of reduced lipid absorption in animals treated with FGF19.

2.1.4 Conclusion

Taken together, we report that the anti-obesity effect of FGF19 occurs in the absence of UCP1. Our data suggest that the primary way in which exogenous FGF19 lowers body weight in mice may be through the inhibition of bile acid synthesis and subsequently a reduction of dietary lipid absorption.

2.2 Introduction

There has been a significant increase in the prevalence of individuals clinically diagnosed as overweight or obese in the United States (1). The relevance of increased adiposity is exemplified by the relationship between obesity and multiple chronic metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, and cardiovascular disease (2-5). As such, there remains a need to identify therapeutics with the capability of treating this key underlying driver of metabolic disease (6). In line with this, the endocrine hormone fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19) has emerged as a potential therapy for the treatment of obesity and its associated comorbidities(7-10).

FGF15, the mouse ortholog of FGF19, is an ileum derived metabolic factor that functions in the postprandial period to regulate bile acid homeostasis (11). Promoting lipid absorption, bile acids are made in the liver, stored in the gall bladder, and subsequently released into the small intestine (12). Deletion or overexpression of FGF15 causes defects in bile acid production (11, 13). Furthermore, regulation of bile acids by FGF19/15 is dependent upon its action in the liver, where it binds to FGF receptor 4 (FGFR4) and inhibits the expression of cholesterol 7 alpha-hydroxylase (CYP7A1), the rate limiting enzyme in bile acid production (14, 15).

Both FGF19 and its endocrine FGF family member FGF21, appear to have broadly similar effects on whole-body metabolism. Animals overexpressing FGF19 or FGF21 as well as those treated with recombinant protein, exhibit elevated metabolic rates and decreased fat mass in

addition to improvements in glucose utilization, insulin sensitivity, and lipid profiles (16-20). We and others have previously shown that induction of UCP1 by FGF21 is required for its thermogenic effects. However, the majority of the metabolic benefits characteristic of FGF21 action remain in the absence of UCP1 (21). Similar to FGF21, the therapeutic benefits associated with FGF19 administration have also been proposed to be linked to the recruitment of UCP1 and other key thermogenic pathways in white and brown adipose tissue (14, 16, 17). However, the role of UCP1 in mediating the metabolic effects observed with FGF19 has not been fully investigated. To determine the specific contribution of UCP1 to the known pharmacology of FGF19, we treated wild-type (WT) and UCP1 null (UCP1KO) mice chronically with FGF19. We show that chronic FGF19 administration reduced body weight but did not increase energy expenditure in UCP1KO mice. UCP1 null animals treated with FGF19 exhibited a down regulation of hepatic genes linked to bile acid production, lowered levels of certain hepatic bile acid species, and a significant increase in fecal energy content. Taken together, these data suggest that the anti-obesity action of FGF19 may be driven by its classical role in the regulation of hepatic bile acid synthesis rather than the upregulation of thermogenic pathways in adipose tissue.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Animals

All animal studies were approved by the Eli Lilly and Company Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Obese male wild-type C57Bl/6NTac mice were obtained from Taconic Farms, male UCP1KO mice (B6.129-ucp1tmkz/J) and their WT siblings were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory. All animals were individually housed in a temperature-controlled (24°C–27 °C) environment with 12 h/12 h light/dark cycle. Wild-type and UCP1KO mice were fed a calorierich diet consisting of 40% fat, 39% carbohydrate, and 21% protein caloric content (TD95217; Envigo) for a minimum of 16 weeks prior to the start of treatment and had free access to food and water. During the study period, mice received a daily intraperitoneal injection with either vehicle (PBS) or recombinant human FGF19 (0.2 or 2 mg/kg). Recombinant human FGF19 (FGF19) was generated in house at Eli Lilly and Company. Food intake and body weights were recorded daily. Body composition was determined by quantitative nuclear magnetic resonance (QNMR) using an Echo System instrument (ECHO MRI, 3-1 Composition Analyzer; Echo Medical Systems, Houston, TX).

2.3.2 Indirect calorimetry

Changes in metabolic rate associated with chronic dosing of FGF19 were assessed over an 8 day period using an open respirometer system (LabMaster System; TSE Systems, Bad Homburg, Germany). Briefly, oxygen consumption (VO2, mL/kg/h) and carbon dioxide production (VCO2, mL/kg/h) were measured throughout the 8 day dosing period. VO2 (mL/kg/h) and VCO2 (mL/kg/h) were used to calculate energy expenditure and respiratory exchange ratio (RER = VCO2/VO2). Animals had ad libitum access to water and high-fat diet when in metabolic cages. All measurements were made at approximately 24 °C. The effects of FGF19 on metabolic rate in UCP1KO mice and their WT siblings was determined during the final 24 h of dosing using the CLAMSTM animal monitoring system (Columbus instruments, Columbus, OH USA). Animals had ad libitum access to water and high-fat diet when in the CLAMS. All measurements were made at approximately 24 °C.

2.3.3 Tissue collection

Animals were euthanized by CO2 asphyxiation followed by exsanguination via cardiac puncture. Blood was collected in EDTA coated tubes; plasma was separated by centrifugation, aliquoted, and frozen for future analysis. Adipose tissues (epididymal white (eWAT), inguinal white (iWAT) and interscapular brown (iBAT)) and liver were removed and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen.

2.3.4 Determination of insulin sensitivity

Following 7 days of FGF19 treatment, insulin sensitivity was determined in wild-type and UCP1KO mice. Briefly, on the morning of the procedure, animals were fasted for four hours. The animals were anesthetized with isoflurane throughout the entire procedure. A blood sample was collected by tail clip method. Each animal received 10 μ Ci of [3H] 2-Deoxyglucose (Perkin–Elmer) and 0.5 U/kg of insulin (Humilin R, Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN) by retro-orbital injection. Additional blood samples were taken at 2, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 30 min after injection.

The blood samples were treated with Barium Hydroxide and then precipitated with Zinc Sulfate. The samples were centrifuged, the supernatant was collected, and the radioactivity was measured by liquid scintillation. After the final blood collection, the animals were euthanized, and tissues were collected. The tissue samples were clamp frozen in liquid nitrogen. For in vivo glucose uptake, tissue samples were weighed and homogenized in 0.1% perchloric acid. The homogenates were combined with either water to determine total 2-deoxyglucose or barium hydroxide/zinc sulfate to determine free 2-deoxyglucose. Radioactivity was measured by liquid scintillation. Data are presented as µmol/100 g/min.

2.3.5 Lipid tolerance test

Following 7 days of FGF19 treatment, wild-type and UCP1KO mice were fasted overnight (14–16 h) in standard cages with ad libitum access to water. Mice were gavaged with 0.5 mL of olive oil and blood was collected for measurement of triglyceride content. Blood samples were collected via tail bleed using a Microvette® CB 300 K2E (Sarstedt) at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 5 h of the lipid challenge. Serum levels of triglycerides were quantified using a triglyceride assay kit (Liquicolor (Mono®)).

2.3.6 Hepatic bile acids and fecal energy content

To determine fecal energy content, feces were collected from WT and UCP1KO animals dosed with vehicle or FGF19 over the last 3 days of treatment. Fecal energy content was measured via bomb calorimetry (Covance Laboratories, Madison). Hepatic bile acids were analyzed as previously described (22).

2.3.7 Analysis of metabolites and circulating factors

Plasma triglycerides, cholesterol and free fatty acids were measured using a Hitachi 912 Clinical Chemistry Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN). Insulin (Crystal Chem Inc., Downers Grove, IL, USA), total Adiponectin (BioVendor Inc., Asheville, NC, USA) and FGF21 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) were measured by ELISA.

2.3.8 2.8. RNA isolation, RT and real-time quantitative PCR

Total RNA was isolated from tissues using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and RNeasy lipid mini kit (Qiagen, Venlo, Netherlands). RNA concentration was determined with a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific). One μ g of RNA was used to synthesize cDNA using a High-Capacity cDNA RT Kit (PE Applied Biosystems). Expression of mRNA was determined on a QuantStudio 7 system using Universal PCR Master Mix and TaqMan primers (Applied Biosystems). Data were normalized to β -actin and fold-change calculated using $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT.

2.3.9 Statistical analysis

All data were graphed and analyzed using GraphPad Prism, version 7.03. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Statistical analyses performed included student unpaired t-test, one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test where appropriate. Differences were considered significant when p < 0.05*.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 FGF19 lowers body weight in obese mice

The anti-obesity action of FGF19 is suggested to be linked, in part, with its ability to induce a negative energy balance via an increase in whole-body caloric expenditure (16, 17). However, the kinetics of the onset of weight loss and the increase in caloric expenditure following FGF19 administration has not been shown. To address this, we evaluated the effect of daily subcutaneous administration of FGF19 (0.2 or 2 mg/kg) in obese mice over an 8 day period. As previously reported (16, 18), obese animals treated with FGF19 lost a significant amount of body weight, an effect which appeared to be saturated at a dose of 0.2 mg/kg of FGF19 per day (**Figure 2.1A**). This loss of body mass was a result of reductions in both fat mass and fat-free mass (**Figure 2.1B**) and was independent of changes in daily food intake (**Figure 2.1C**). Additionally, while there was no effect on circulating levels of triglycerides or free fatty acids (FFA), FGF19 treatment led to reductions in liver triglyceride content after 8 days of treatment (**Figure 2.1D**).

2.4.2 FGF19 enhances insulin stimulated glucose disposal

Next, we characterized the effect of FGF19 on glucose metabolism. While there was no effect of FGF19 on fed blood glucose, 8 days of FGF19 treatment did cause a significant reduction in fed plasma insulin levels (**Figure 2.1E, F**). Tissue insulin sensitivity was assessed in vivo by quantifying radiolabeled glucose uptake in response to a submaximal insulin dose (0.5 U/kg). Glucose clearance in response to insulin was significantly increased in FGF19 treated animals (**Figure 2.1F**). Tissue glucose uptake was determined in muscle (red and white quad) and adipose tissue (subcutaneous inguinal white (iWAT) and interscapular brown (iBAT)), to determine which tissues contributed to the enhanced glucose disposal. Basal glucose uptake was not different between vehicle and FGF19 treated mice however, insulin stimulated glucose disposal was significantly enhanced in iBAT of FGF19 treated animals (**Figure 2.1G, H**).

Figure 2.1. FGF19 lowers body weight in obese mice.

Obese mice (C57Bl/6NTac) were treated once a day with either vehicle (saline, n = 6) or FGF19 (n = 6 per dose group). Eight days of FGF19 treatment significantly lowered body weight when compared to control mice (A). F(16, 20) = 6.416, p<0.001 by two-way ANOVA. Weight loss was associated with a reduction in fat and fat free mass (B). F = 11.57, p = 0.009 and F = 5.045, p =0.0211 by one-way ANOVA respectively. There was no effect of FGF19 treatment on daily food intake (C). F(14, 105) = 0.9382, p = 0.5212 by two-way ANOVA. FGF19 significantly reduced liver triglyceride content but had no impact on circulating triglycerides or free fatty acids (FFAs) at the end of the 8 day dosing period (D). F = 5.958 p = 0.134, F = 0.4621 p = 0.664, and F = 0.4621 p = 0.664 $0.04753 \text{ p} = 0.9537 \text{ by one-way ANOVA respectively. While there was no effect of FGF19 on fed$ glucose levels, there was a significant reduction in fed plasma insulin in animals treated with FGF19 (E and F). F = 0.5354 p = 0.5962 and F = 6.638 p = 0.0086 by one-way ANOVA respectively. In support of improved glycemic control, obese animals treated with FGF19 (n = 6) exhibited lower glucose levels in response to an insulin challenge (n = 6, F). F(6, 60) = 57.75, p < 0.0001 by two-way ANOVA. FGF19 treatment significantly enhanced insulin stimulated glucose disposal in interscapular brown adipose tissue (iBAT), but not muscle (red quadriceps [RQ], white quadriceps [WQ]) or white adipose tissue (iWAT) (G and H). F(1,20) = 5.206 p = 0.0336, F(1,19)= 0.7176 p = 0.4075, F(1, 20) = 0.5382 p = 0.4717, and F(1, 18) = 1.223 p = 0.2833 by two-wayANOVA respectively. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. P < 0.05* compared to vehicle and p < 0.05# compared to treatment.



2.4.3 FGF19 rapidly increase caloric expenditure in obese mice

To determine the impact of FGF19 on whole body metabolism, animals were housed in a TSE indirect calorimetry system for 7 days. FGF19 treated animals exhibited a time-dependent and dose-dependent increase in energy expenditure, which was statistically significant 48 h after study onset, and remained elevated throughout the treatment period (**Figure 2.2A**). There was no effect of FGF19 on carbohydrate and lipid oxidation rates (respiratory exchange ratio (RER)) when compared to vehicle treated animals (**Figure 2.2B**).



Figure 2.2. FGF19 increases caloric expenditure and thermogenic gene expression.

Energy expenditure was measured for 7 days in obese wild-type (C57Bl/6NTac) animals treated with FGF19 daily. FGF19 treated (n = 6) mice exhibited a time and dose dependent increase in caloric expenditure (kcal/kg/hr) when compared to vehicle (n = 6, A). F(1005, 6700) = 2.595, p < 0.0001 by two-way ANOVA. There was no effect of FGF19 on carbohydrate or lipid oxidation rates (respiratory exchange ratio (RER), VCO2/VO2, B). Data are presented mean \pm SEM (dotted line in graphs). The expression of genes associated with thermogenic capacity was assessed in epididymal white (eWAT, C), inguinal white (iWAT, D) and interscapular brown (iBAT, E) adipose tissue. Thermogenic gene expression was elevated in both iWAT and iBAT, but not eWAT of animals treated with FGF19. F(5, 60) = 1.319 p = 0.2682, F(6, 70) = 19.26 p < 0.0001, and F(5, 60) 0.1976 p = 0.9622 by two-way ANOVA respectively. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. P < 0.05* compared to vehicle

2.4.4 FGF19 induces thermogenic gene expression in adipose tissue

In support of FGF19 recruiting adipose tissue thermogenic pathways, gene expression analyses indicated a clear impact of FGF19 on gene transcripts associated with enhanced thermogenic activity at the high dose of FGF19 (2 mg/kg/day). In both white and brown adipose tissue, there was a significant increase in the mRNA expression of key regulators of mitochondrial capacity as well as thermogenic activity. Specifically, in subcutaneous white adipose tissue (iWAT) there was a significant increase in mRNA expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC1 α) as well as type II iodothyronine deiodinase (DIO2) (**Figure 2.2D**). Furthermore, in interscapular brown adipose tissue (iBAT) there was a significance increase in PGC1 α and bone morphogenic protein 8b (BMP8b) (**Figure 2.2E**). Importantly, mRNA expression of UCP1 was significantly elevated in both iWAT and iBAT following 7 days of FGF19 treatment (**Figure 2.2D**, **E**). There was no effect of FGF19 on these transcripts, in visceral, epididymal (eWAT) white adipose tissue (**Figure 2.2C**).

2.4.5 FGF19 does not require UCP1 to lower body weight in mice

To determine which facets of FGF19's effects require the activity of UCP1, we compared the pharmacological effects of FGF19 in mice with whole body deletion of UCP1 to their wildtype littermate controls (23). Surprisingly, chronic administration of FGF19 (2 mg/kg/d for 7 days) was equally efficacious at reducing body weight in obese WT (**Figure 2.3A**) and UCP1 null mice (**Figure 2.3B**). Furthermore, in an important contrast to our earlier work on FGF21, there was no effect of FGF19 on daily caloric intake in WT (**Figure 2.3C**) or UCP1KO (**Figure 2.3D**) mice. There was a significant reduction in fed glucose concentration, as well as a significant decrease in plasma insulin levels in WT (**Figure 2.3E**) treated with FGF19. However, in UCP1KO animals this effect of FGF19 on fed glucose was absent and there was only a trend (p = 0.06) towards significantly lowered insulin concentrations (**Figure 2.3F**). Of note, FGF19's therapeutic impact on insulin stimulated glucose disposal in iBAT of WT animals was not observed in UCP1 null animals (**Figure 2.3G, H**). To determine if the thermogenic effects of FGF19 depend on the presence of UCP1, whole body energy expenditure was evaluated at the end of the 7 day treatment period in both WT and UCP1KO animals treated with FGF19. Once again, we found that FGF19 treatment led to elevated energy expenditure in both the light and dark phase without affecting substrate utilization rates in WT mice (**Figure 2.4A**). Conversely, the effect of FGF19 treatment on energy expenditure was entirely absent in UCP1KO animals (**Figure 2.4B**).

Figure 2.3. UCP1 is not required for the antiobesity effects of FGF19.

Both wild-type sibling controls (WT, B6.129-ucp1tmkz/J) and uncoupling protein 1 knockout (UCP1KO, B6.129-ucp1tmkz/J) mice were treated once daily with either vehicle (n = 6) or FGF19 (n = 6, 2 mg/kg). Chronic administration of FGF19 was equally efficacious at reducing body weight in obese WT and UCP1 null mice (A and B) without effecting food intake (C and D). F(21, 154) = 3.91 p < 0.0001 and F(21, 140) = 0.6443 p = 0.8791 by two-way ANOVA respectively. While there was not a significant reduction in fed glucose, FGF19 treatment led to reduced insulin levels in WT and UCP1KO animals (E and F). F(3, 22) = 12.48 p < 0.0001 and F(3, 22) = 4.92 p = 0.0092 by one-way ANOVA respectively. While insulin stimulated glucose uptake was increased in interscapular brown adipose tissue (iBAT) of WT animals, this effect was absent in UCP1KO treated animals (G and H). F(3, 20) = 1.111 p = 0.3682 by one-way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. p < 0.05* compared to vehicle.

Wild-type

UCP1KO



The most well described biological function of FGF19 is its role in regulation of bile acid homeostasis (11). We found that FGF19 significantly reduced the mRNA expression of CYP7A and CYP8B in the liver of UCP1KO mice and although it did not reach significance, CYP7A was also decreased (approx. 50%) in WT animals when compared to vehicle (**Figure 2.4C, D**). To further characterize the effect of FGF19 on bile acid homeostasis, we measured hepatic bile acid content. FGF19 significantly lowered the amount of certain bile acid species in the liver of both WT and UCP1KO animals (**Figure 2.4E, F**). To determine if the reduction in body weight was associated with a reduction in energy absorption, we measured fecal energy content via bomb calorimetry in feces collected during the last 3 days of treatment in both WT and UCP1KO mice. There was a significant increase in fecal energy content in both WT (10% increase, **Figure 2.4G**) and UCP1KO (17% increase, **Figure 2.4H**) animals treated with FGF19 when compared to vehicle. The effect of FGF19 treatment on fecal energy content was significantly greater in UCP1KO animals compared to WT animals (p = 0.035). Figure 2.4. UCP1 is required for the thermogenic effect of FGF19.

Whole body energy expenditure was measured in wild-type sibling controls (WT, B6.129-ucp1tmkz/J) and uncoupling protein 1 knockout (UCP1KO, B6.129-ucp1tmkz/J) animals dosed once daily with vehicle (saline) or FGF19 (2 mg/kg). FGF19 significantly increased caloric expenditure in WT mice during the light and dark phase (A) of their daily cycle, this effect was absent in UCP1 null animals (B). F(3, 30) = 0.3191 p = 0.8115 by two-way ANOVA. There was no effect of FGF19 treatment on substrate utilization rates in both genotypes (A and B). F(3, 30) = 0.2452 p = 0.8641 by two-way ANOVA. Hepatic expression of CYP7A and CYP8B mRNA was measured in both WT and UCP1KO animals (C and D). F(3, 46) = 0.236 p = 0.8708 by two-way ANOVA. Bile acid species were measured from livers of animals treated with FGF19 or vehicle (E and F). F(27, 210) = 3.622 p < 0.0001 by two-way ANOVA. While both WT and UCP1KO animals showed a significant increase in fecal energy content (G and H) this effect was significantly greater in UCP1KO animals compared to WT animals (p = 0.035). F = 12.36 p < 0.0001 by one-way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. p < 0.05* compared to vehicle.





2.5 Discussion

Administration or overexpression of FGF19 in preclinical models of obesity and T2DM provides protection from weight gain and enhances glycemic control. The metabolic efficacy of FGF19 appears to be linked to its ability to increase whole-body caloric expenditure, an effect in rodents underpinned by the action of the thermogenic protein UCP1, in white and brown adipose tissue (16, 17). The primary objective of the current study was to determine the contribution of UCP1-dependent thermogenesis to the pharmacology of FGF19.

Firstly, we attempted to delineate in wild type mice, the impact of FGF19 treatment on caloric expenditure and weight loss. To do this, we conducted a time-course study monitoring both body weight and metabolic rate throughout FGF19 treatment. We found that the effect of FGF19 on body weight was significant by day 7 with no significant difference between the high and low treatment groups. FGF19 treated animals exhibited reductions in both fat mass and fat-free mass, furthermore, these effects were independent of changes in food intake. Since the liver is a major site of FGF19 action, we sought to determine the effect of FGF19 treatment on hepatic lipid content. While we found hepatic triglyceride content was lower in animals treated with FGF19, circulating triglycerides and FFAs were unchanged.

Next, we assessed the effects of FGF19 on glucose metabolism. While there was no effect on fed glucose levels, FGF19 treatment led to a reductions in fed insulin as well as improved insulin sensitivity. Importantly, we found that FGF19 treatment led to improved insulin stimulated glucose disposal in brown adipose tissue. Taken together, these data may indicate that FGF19 is an insulin sensitizer and that adipose tissue is an important mediator of its anti-diabetic action.

In agreement with previously published data (16, 17, 24), whole-body calorimetry showed that FGF19 treatment in WT animals does indeed cause an elevation in whole-body caloric expenditure, an effect that reached significance 48 h following the onset of treatment. Concordant with this finding, we also show that FGF19 treatment leads to increased expression of genes involved in thermogenesis, most notably UCP1, in both white and brown adipose tissue. These data show that an elevation of energy expenditure precedes weight loss, supporting the contention that the anti-obesity activity of FGF19 may be linked to its action on UCP1.

To directly test whether the pharmacologic effects we saw in our time-course study are dependent on UCP1-mediated thermogenesis, we treated both WT and UCP1KO animals chronically with FGF19. The primary novel finding of the current investigation is that FGF19 is able to induce weight loss in the absence of UCP1 and an elevation of whole-body caloric expenditure. In fact, in contrast to prior hypotheses, we show here that the activity of UCP1 in adipose tissue is dispensable for FGF19's anti-obesity action, illustrated by the fact that UCP1KO animals lost equivalent weight when compared to their WT counterparts. These results are in agreement with our previously published findings that activation of the predominant FGF receptor in adipose, FGFR1, is not required for FGF19-induced weight loss (24). However, in contrast to its anti-obesity activity, our data suggest that the action of UCP1 is required for FGF19 to enhance tissue specific insulin sensitivity. Specifically, in UCP1KO animals, FGF19 is no longer able to induce whole-body thermogenesis or insulin stimulated glucose disposal in brown adipose tissue. These findings support the contention that the pharmacologic effects of FGF19 treatment on caloric expenditure and glucose uptake in brown adipose tissue require the action of UCP1, potentially through FGF receptor 1 (FGFR1). In support of this, it has been demonstrated that an FGF19 variant unable to bind and activate FGFR1 was unable to improve blood glucose levels in ob/ob mice (25). Conversely, FGF19 retained its ability to improve glucose tolerance in FGFR4 null animals (14).

We have previously shown that weight loss in UCP1KO animals in response to FGF21 is associated with a reduction in caloric intake when energy expenditure is not increased (21). Interestingly, FGF19-induced body weight lowering in UCP1KO mice was not associated with a change in food intake. While neither FGF19 nor FGF21 are expressed in the brain, both their receptors and their requisite co-receptor (β -Klotho) are expressed centrally (26, 27). Indeed, central infusion of FGF19 or FGF21 is able to modulate feeding behavior and glucose homeostasis in rodents (16, 28-31). The importance of central signaling is highlighted by studies showing that many of the beneficial metabolic effects of both FGF19 and FGF21 are abrogated in animals deficient in central β -Klotho (32, 33). However, it is important to note that FGF21 crosses the blood-brain barrier more readily than FGF15/19 (34, 35); therefore, it may be the pharmacodynamic properties of FGF19 and FGF21, rather than differential FGFR activation, that delineates the differences observed between the current study and our previous work. Next, we investigated whether the ability of FGF19 to induce weight loss independently of UCP1-mediated thermogenesis is tied to its known role in bile acid and lipid homeostasis. We found that FGF19 robustly inhibited hepatic transcription of CYP7A1 and CYP8B, proteins required for bile acid synthesis, in UCP1 null mice. While in this experiment there was only a trend towards FGF19 lowering CYP7A a key enzyme associated with bile acid production in WT animals, this action of FGF19 has been shown previously (14). However, it should be noted that this is effect is potentially due to the elevated hepatic expression of both CYP7A1 and CYP8b in UCP1KO animals compared to WT animals. When individual hepatic bile acid species were measured, we found that FGF19 treatment did indeed lead to significant reduction of certain bile acids in both WT and UCP1KO animals. As bile acids are crucial for absorption of lipophilic nutrients, we assessed fecal energy content in WT and UCP1KO animals treated with FGF19. Importantly, we found that FGF19 increased fecal energy content in WT mice and that this effect was greater in UCP1 null animals (p = 0.035). These data suggest that the primary way in which pharmacologic administration of FGF19 reduces body weight may be through the inhibition of bile acid synthesis and subsequent impairment of lipid uptake in the gut.

2.6 Conclusions

Taken together, we report here for the first time that the anti-obesity effect of FGF19 occurs in the absence of the key thermogenic protein UCP1. Our data suggest that the primary way in which pharmacologic administration of FGF19 reduces body weight may be through the inhibition of bile acid synthesis and a subsequent reduction of dietary lipid absorption.

2.7 Acknowledgements

The following people co-authored this manuscript: Brian A. Droz, Richard Cosgrove, Libbey S. O'Farrell, Tamer Coskun, James W. Perfield, II, Steven Bauer, Mark Wade, Tara E. Chouinard, Joseph T. Brozinick, Andrew C. Adams, and Ricardo J. Samms

2.8 References

- K. M. Flegal, M. D. Carroll, B. K. Kit, C. L. Ogden, Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010. *JAMA* 307, 491-497 (2012).
- 2. D. B. Allison, K. R. Fontaine, J. E. Manson, J. Stevens, T. B. VanItallie, Annual deaths attributable to obesity in the United States. *JAMA* **282**, 1530-1538 (1999).
- 3. J. B. Dixon, P. S. Bhathal, P. E. O'Brien, Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: predictors of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis in the severely obese. *Gastroenterology* **121**, 91-100 (2001).
- 4. P. Hossain, B. Kawar, M. El Nahas, Obesity and diabetes in the developing world--a growing challenge. *N Engl J Med* **356**, 213-215 (2007).
- 5. S. J. Olshansky *et al.*, A potential decline in life expectancy in the United States in the 21st century. *N Engl J Med* **352**, 1138-1145 (2005).
- 6. D. E. Moller, Metabolic disease drug discovery- "hitting the target" is easier said than done. *Cell Metab* **15**, 19-24 (2012).
- 7. S. A. Harrison *et al.*, NGM282 for treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet* **391**, 1174-1185 (2018).
- 8. S. A. Harrison *et al.*, NGM282 Improves Liver Fibrosis and Histology in 12 Weeks in Patients With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* **71**, 1198-1212 (2020).
- 9. G. M. Hirschfield *et al.*, Effect of NGM282, an FGF19 analogue, in primary sclerosing cholangitis: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II trial. *J Hepatol* **70**, 483-493 (2019).
- M. E. Rinella *et al.*, Rosuvastatin improves the FGF19 analogue NGM282-associated lipid changes in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *J Hepatol* **70**, 735-744 (2019).
- 11. T. Inagaki *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 15 functions as an enterohepatic signal to regulate bile acid homeostasis. *Cell Metab* **2**, 217-225 (2005).
- 12. A. F. Hofmann, Bile Acids: The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly. *News Physiol Sci* 14, 24-29 (1999).
- 13. D. Jung *et al.*, FXR agonists and FGF15 reduce fecal bile acid excretion in a mouse model of bile acid malabsorption. *J Lipid Res* **48**, 2693-2700 (2007).
- 14. A. L. Wu *et al.*, FGF19 regulates cell proliferation, glucose and bile acid metabolism via FGFR4-dependent and independent pathways. *PLoS One* **6**, e17868 (2011).
- 15. J. A. Holt *et al.*, Definition of a novel growth factor-dependent signal cascade for the suppression of bile acid biosynthesis. *Genes Dev* **17**, 1581-1591 (2003).
- 16. L. Fu *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 19 increases metabolic rate and reverses dietary and leptin-deficient diabetes. *Endocrinology* **145**, 2594-2603 (2004).

- 17. E. Tomlinson *et al.*, Transgenic mice expressing human fibroblast growth factor-19 display increased metabolic rate and decreased adiposity. *Endocrinology* **143**, 1741-1747 (2002).
- 18. A. C. Adams *et al.*, Fundamentals of FGF19 & FGF21 action in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS One* **7**, e38438 (2012).
- 19. A. Kharitonenkov *et al.*, FGF-21 as a novel metabolic regulator. *J Clin Invest* **115**, 1627-1635 (2005).
- 20. T. Coskun *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 corrects obesity in mice. *Endocrinology* **149**, 6018-6027 (2008).
- 21. R. J. Samms *et al.*, Discrete Aspects of FGF21 In Vivo Pharmacology Do Not Require UCP1. *Cell Rep* **11**, 991-999 (2015).
- P. Zhao *et al.*, Adaptation of Intestinal and Bile Acid Physiology Accompany the Metabolic Benefits Following Ileal Interposition in the Rat. *Obes Surg* 28, 725-734 (2018).
- 23. S. Enerback *et al.*, Mice lacking mitochondrial uncoupling protein are cold-sensitive but not obese. *Nature* **387**, 90-94 (1997).
- 24. A. C. Adams *et al.*, The breadth of FGF21's metabolic actions are governed by FGFR1 in adipose tissue. *Mol Metab* **2**, 31-37 (2012).
- 25. X. Wu *et al.*, Selective activation of FGFR4 by an FGF19 variant does not improve glucose metabolism in ob/ob mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 14379-14384 (2009).
- 26. K. Fon Tacer *et al.*, Research resource: Comprehensive expression atlas of the fibroblast growth factor system in adult mouse. *Mol Endocrinol* **24**, 2050-2064 (2010).
- 27. A. L. Bookout *et al.*, FGF21 regulates metabolism and circadian behavior by acting on the nervous system. *Nat Med* **19**, 1147-1152 (2013).
- 28. D. A. Sarruf *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 action in the brain increases energy expenditure and insulin sensitivity in obese rats. *Diabetes* **59**, 1817-1824 (2010).
- K. K. Ryan *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor-19 action in the brain reduces food intake and body weight and improves glucose tolerance in male rats. *Endocrinology* **154**, 9-15 (2013).
- 30. G. J. Morton *et al.*, FGF19 action in the brain induces insulin-independent glucose lowering. *J Clin Invest* **123**, 4799-4808 (2013).
- 31. G. Marcelin *et al.*, Central action of FGF19 reduces hypothalamic AGRP/NPY neuron activity and improves glucose metabolism. *Mol Metab* **3**, 19-28 (2014).
- 32. B. M. Owen *et al.*, FGF21 acts centrally to induce sympathetic nerve activity, energy expenditure, and weight loss. *Cell Metab* **20**, 670-677 (2014).
- T. Lan *et al.*, FGF19, FGF21, and an FGFR1/beta-Klotho-Activating Antibody Act on the Nervous System to Regulate Body Weight and Glycemia. *Cell Metab* 26, 709-718 e703 (2017).

- 34. H. Hsuchou, W. Pan, A. J. Kastin, The fasting polypeptide FGF21 can enter brain from blood. *Peptides* 28, 2382-2386 (2007).
- 35. H. Hsuchou, W. Pan, A. J. Kastin, Fibroblast growth factor 19 entry into brain. *Fluids Barriers CNS* **10**, 32 (2013).

CHAPTER 3. THE HEDGEHOG SIGNALING PATHWAY IS EXPRESSED IN THE ADULT MOUSE HYPOTHALAMUS AND MODULATED BY FASTING

This work has been submitted for publication at *eNeuro*

Patrick Antonellis was the primary contributor to the design and execution of all experiments as well as all data interpretation and manuscript preparation.

3.1 Abstract

Primary cilia are found on almost all mammalian cell types and their dysfunction underlies a class of human genetic disorders known as ciliopathies (1). Obesity is a core clinical phenotype of certain ciliopathies such as Bardet-Biedl (BBS, OMIM #209900) and Alström (ALMS, OMIM #203800) syndromes (2, 3). Ciliopathy patients present a wide range of clinical symptoms, some of which are also associated with genetic defects in hedgehog signaling such as bone, limb patterning and genitalia malformations (4-8). Furthermore, the ciliopathy Carpenter syndrome (OMIM #20100) results from mutations in Rab23, a negative regulator of hedgehog signaling. Clinical features of patients with Carpenter syndrome include both skeletal malformations, and obesity (9, 10). Thus, these genetic disorders implicate a potential role for hedgehog signaling in regulation of energy homeostasis in humans.

Ciliopathy mouse models, as well as conditional animal models of cilia loss, have implicated hypothalamic neuronal cilia-mediated feeding behaviors in obesity (11-15). Neuronal primary cilia preferentially localize G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) known to be important for regulation of energy homeostasis and feeding behavior, such as neuropeptide Y receptors 2 and 5, melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1 (MCHR1) and melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R) (12, 16, 17). However, the impact of ciliary localization on their signaling capabilities is not well understood. We have previously demonstrated in primary mouse hypothalamic neurons *in vitro*, interactions between a ciliary GPCR and hedgehog signaling, suggesting that the hedgehog pathway may modulate GPCR activity at the cilium in differentiated neurons (18).

In mammals, the hedgehog pathway is dependent on the primary cilium as an organizing center (19-23). Components of the hedgehog pathway such as patched (PTCH1), smoothened

(SMO) and the Glioma (Gli) transcription factors GLI2 and GLI3 dynamically localize to the primary cilia (24-26). Upon binding to the ligand sonic hedgehog (SHH), PTCH1 leaves the cilia allowing for SMO to enter primary cilia. GLI2 is activated into its transcriptional activator (GLI2A) form while GLI3R formation is inhibited, leading to expression of Gli target genes, which includes *Ptch1* and *Gli1*, (27-30). Numerous other genes are known to regulate hedgehog signaling in embryonic development, such as *Gpr161*, an orphan GPCR shown to localize to cilia and negatively regulate pathway activity (31).

Beyond embryonic development, cilia and hedgehog signaling continue to play an important role in the postnatal brain for growth and the maintenance of neural progenitors (32-36). However, the role of hedgehog signaling in the adult hypothalamus is less clear. *In situ* hybridization studies have shown that *Shh*, *Ptch1*, and *Smo* mRNA are expressed in several regions of adult rat brain, including the hypothalamus (37-40). Here we characterize in greater detail the expression and transcriptional activity of the hedgehog pathway in the feeding centers of the adult hypothalamus *in vivo*. We also demonstrate that hedgehog pathway activity changes based on feeding status and this response is absent following the onset of obesity, suggesting a role for hedgehog signaling in the modulation of adult behaviors.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Animals

All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis. Male C57BL/6J (stock 000664) mice were ordered from The Jackson Laboratory and housed on a standard 12-hour light dark cycle and given food and water *ad libitum* except for experiments as described. Chow fed mice were maintained on a standard chow diet consisting of 13% fat, 67% carbohydrate, and 20% protein caloric content (2014; Envigo). High fat diet (HFD) fed animals were maintained on a diet consisting of 40% fat, 39% carbohydrate, and 21% protein caloric content starting at 6 weeks of age (TD95217; Envigo).

3.2.2 In situ hybridization

Brains from 8 to 10 week old male C57BL/6J mice were harvested and fixed as previously described (41). Sections were cut at a thickness of 15 µm and mounted directly on slides then post-fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 16 hr at 4°C. Detection of transcripts in brain sections was performed using the RNAscope 2.5 HD Duplex Assay (ACD, Newark, CA). Tissue pretreatment was performed according to technical note 320534 Rev A. Probe hybridization, counterstaining, and mounting of slides was performed according to user manual no. 322500-USM Rev A. Slides were assayed using probes to SHH (Cat No. 314361), SMO (Cat No. 318411), GLI1 (Cat No. 311001), PTCH1 (Cat No. 402811), GPR161 (Cat No. 318111), AGRP (Cat No. 400711-C2), POMC (Cat No. 314081-C2), MC4R (Cat No. 319181-C2), MCHR1 (Cat No. 317491-C2), or GFAP (Cat No. 313211-C2) transcripts (ACD). Sections were counterstained with hematoxylin, dehydrated, and mounted using VectaMount (Vectorlabs, Burlingame, CA). Slides with positive control probe (PPIB-C1/POLR2A-C2; Cat No. 321651) and negative control probe (DapB; Cat no. 320751) were ran with each experiment. At least 3 animals were analyzed for each group.

3.2.3 Quantitative real-time PCR

RNA was isolated, cDNA prepared, and quantitative real-time PCR performed as previously described (18). Assays-on-Demand Gene expression probes (Applied Biosystems) were as follows: Shh Mm00436528_m1; Ptch1 Mm00436026_m1; Smo Mm01162710_m1; Gli1 Mm00494654_m1; Gpr161: Mm01291057_m1. CT values were normalized to β -actin, and relative expression was calculated by the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method and fold change was calculated by normalizing relative expression to the proper control.

3.2.4 Experimental design and statistical analyses

Whole hypothalamus was collected from 35 to 36 week old, C57Bl/6, lean and obese animals that were either allowed *ad libitum* access to food or fasted overnight. Region specific micropunches were collected from 7 to 8 week old, lean, C57Bl/6 mice using 1.0 mm Militex Biopsy Punch (Electron Microscopy Sciences). There was a minimum of 6 animals per treatment group. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA and corrected for multiple

comparisons. Differences were considered significant when P < 0.05. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

3.3 Results

To determine whether *Shh* and components of the signaling pathway are expressed in the adult mouse hypothalamus we performed *in situ* hybridization studies. Using a dual labeling approach, we first assessed whether neurons of one of the feeding centers, the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus (ARC), express hedgehog pathway genes. Two major neuronal subtypes within the ARC, the anorexigenic proopiomelanocortin (POMC) expressing neurons and orexigenic agouti-related protein (AgRP)/neuropeptide Y (NPY) coexpressing neurons, are crucial for normal energy homeostasis (42). Hypothalamic sections from adult, C57/Bl6 mice were labeled with probes to *Shh*, *Ptch1*, *Smo*, *Gli1*, or *Gpr161* and colabeled with probes to either *Pomc* or *Agrp*. In the ARC, we found that all hedgehog pathway genes assayed were coexpressed in neurons expressing *Pomc* (Figure 3.1A-D) and *Agrp* (Figure 3.1F-I). We also found that *Gpr161* is expressed at a relatively high level throughout the ARC (Figure 3.1E and 3.1J). For each experiment, sections were labeled with positive and negative control probes (Figure 3.2).

Figure 3.1. Hedgehog pathway expression in the adult mouse ARC.

Dual probe in situ hybridization labeling of the ARC with probes to hedgehog pathway and neuronal gene transcripts. Pomc (A-E) and Agrp (F-J) probes are labeled in red while Shh (A and F), Ptch1 (B and G), Smo (C and H), Gli1 (D and I), and Gpr161 (E and J) probes are labeled in blue. Examples of cells colabeled by both probes are denoted by an asterisk (*). Pomc or Agrp expressing cells adjacent to highly expressing Ptch1 (B and G) or Gli1 (D and I) cells are denoted by an arrow. Right hand panels are magnified images of region in black box on left hand side. Scale bar 100 µm on left panels and 50 µm right panels. V3 indicates third ventricle.




Figure 3.2. Controls for dual probe in situ hybridization studies.

Sections of adult mouse ARC and PVN were labeled with either positive control probes targeting the mouse genes Ppib and Polr2a (A and C) or negative control probes to the bacterial gene dapB (B and D). Right hand panels are magnified images of region in black box on left hand side. Scale bar 100 μ m on left panels and 50 μ m right panels

We next assessed whether *Shh* and its pathway components are also expressed in another feeding center, the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (PVN). We labeled sections of hypothalamus with probes to *Shh*, *Ptch1*, *Smo*, *Gli1*, or *Gpr161* and colabeled with probes to either *Mchr1* or *Mc4r*. Both MCHR1 and MC4R are known to be important for regulation of energy homeostasis and feeding behavior and localize to primary cilia in neurons (Berbari et al., 2008;Siljee et al., 2018). In the PVN, we observed relatively few *Mc4r* positive neurons with sparse incidence of colabeling with probes to hedgehog pathway genes (**Figure 3.3A-D**). However, *Mchr1* positive neurons were much more abundant and were frequently colabeled with probes to all hedgehog pathway genes used (**Figure 3.3F-I**). As in the ARC, *Gpr161* is expressed abundantly throughout the PVN (**Figure 3.3E** and **J**).

Figure 3.3. Hedgehog pathway expression in adult mouse PVN.

Dual probe in situ hybridization of probes for hedgehog pathway gene transcripts colabeled with probes to neuronal gene transcripts in the PVN of adult mice. Mc4r (A-E) and Mchr1 (F-J) probes are labeled in red while Shh (A and F), Ptch1 (B and G), Smo (C and H), Gli1 (D and I), and Gpr161 (E and J) probes are labeled in blue. Example of cells colabeled by both probes are denoted by an asterisk (*). Mchr1 expressing cells adjacent to highly expressing Gli1 cells are denoted by an arrow (I). Right hand panels are magnified images of region in black box on left hand side. Scale bar 100 µm left panels and 50 µm right panels. V3 indicates third ventricle.



Interestingly, we observed cells highly positive for either *Gli1* or *Ptch1* expression throughout the ARC and PVN. Some of these cells appeared adjacent to neurons expressing *Pomc*, *Agrp*, or *Mchr1* (**Figure 3.1B, D, G, I,** and **3.3I**, **G**, arrows). Previously it has been reported that astrocytes of the adult mouse brain are responsive to hedgehog signaling and increase *Gli1* expression upon pathway activation (43). Therefore, we sought to determine if these hedgehog responsive cells were astrocytes by colabeling with probes to either *Gli1* or *Ptch1* and glial fibrillary acidic protein (*Gfap*), an astrocyte marker. In the ARC (**Figure 3.4A** and **C**) and PVN (**Figure 3.4B** and **D**), cells highly expressing *Gfap* were observed colabeled with *Gli1* or *Ptch1*, suggesting that some of the hedgehog responsive cells adjacent to neurons may be astrocytes in the hypothalamus.



Figure 3.4. Gli1 and Ptch1 expression in astrocytes in adult mouse hypothalamus.

Dual probe in situ hybridization was performed with probes for Gli1 or Ptch1 and astrocyte marker Gfap gene transcripts. Sections of the ARC (A and C) and PVN (B and D) from adult mice were colabeled with probes to Gli1 or Ptch1 labeled in blue and probes to Gfap labeled in red. Example cells which are highly positive for both probes are denoted by an arrow. Right hand panels are magnified images of region in black box on left hand side. 100 μ m scale bar for left side panels, 50 μ m scale bar on right side. V3 indicates third ventricle.

Since we determined that genes of the hedgehog pathway are expressed in neurons of the adult hypothalamus, we next wanted to determine whether these genes are transcriptionally regulated by physiological changes associated with the normal function of this brain region, such as nutritional status. This was accomplished by gene expression analysis of the whole hypothalamus from chow fed lean and high fat diet (HFD) fed obese animals in the fed and fasted state. HFD fed animals weighed significantly more than their chow fed counterparts at 35 weeks of age (57.1g +/- 0.97 versus 34.8g +/- 0.75; mean +/- SEM; p < 0.05, Student's t-test). Lean and obese animals were allowed either *ad libitum* access to food or fasted overnight, then whole hypothalamic RNA was collected for qPCR analysis. In lean animals there was a significant increase in both *Shh* and *Gli1* expression in the hypothalamus after an overnight fast (Figure 3.5A). The expression of *Ptch1* also was elevated in fasted compared to fed animals, but this effect was not significant (Figure 3.5A). Strikingly, there were no significant changes in gene expression in the hypothalamus of obese fasted vs fed animals (Figure 3.5A). Since transcriptional regulation was observed in response to fasting in control chow fed animals at the level of the whole hypothalamus, we wanted to assess which specific nuclei were contributing to this effect. Once again control, normal weight C57Bl/6J animals were either allowed ad libitum access to food or fasted overnight. Micropunches were then collected from the cortex, ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH), PVN, and ARC for qPCR analysis. We found the fasting induced increase in *Gli1* expression in the whole hypothalamus is driven by increases in Glil expression specifically in the VMH and PVN but not the ARC (Figure 3.5B). We also found that *Gli1* was upregulated, to a lesser extent, in the cortex (Figure 3.5B). Additionally, expression of *Smo* was increased in the VMH, while Shh gene expression was reduced in the ARC following an overnight fast (Figure 3.5B). Finally, we performed qPCR on whole hypothalamus and cortex, a brain region known to exhibit hedgehog pathway activity (43-45), collected from adult animals. We found that all hedgehog pathway genes measured were more highly expressed in the hypothalamus than the cortex (Figure 3.6). Overall, these data demonstrate that not only does expression of the hedgehog pathway continue into adulthood in the hypothalamus, a region critical for energy homeostasis, but that specific nuclei respond with transcriptional changes based upon feeding status.

Figure 3.5. Feeding status mediated changes in hypothalamic hedgehog pathway gene expression.

(A) Hedgehog pathway gene expression in the whole hypothalamus of adult mice. Lean animals fed a standard chow or obese animals fed high-fat diet were allowed ad libitum access to food or fasted overnight. A minimum of 6 animals were used per treatment group. Whole hypothalamic RNA was used for qPCR. F(9, 84) = 1.027 p = 0.4256 by two-way ANOVA. (B) Hedgehog pathway gene expression in brain micropunches of adult mice. A total of 16 animals, 8 per treatment group, fed a chow diet were allowed ad libitum access to food or fasted overnight. Micropunches were taken from the cortex, VMH, PVN, and for qPCR analysis. F(2, 36) = 2.708 p = 0.0802, F(2, 42) = 1.416 p = 0.205, F(2, 39) = 3.283 p = 0.0481, F(2, 33) = 0.9542 p = 0.3955 by two-way ANOVA respectively. Asterisks denote a p-value of < 0.05.















Figure 3.6. Expression of selected hedgehog pathway transcripts in the adult mouse brain. Whole hypothalamus and cortex were collected for qPCR analysis from 6 adult animals allowed ad libitum access to food. F(4, 50) = 6.853 p = 0.0002 by two-way ANOVA.

3.4 Discussion

Primary cilia are crucial for mediating hedgehog signaling in mammals and furthermore, certain ciliopathies are associated with pediatric obesity (46). Therefore, we focused our efforts on evaluating expression of the hedgehog pathway in hypothalamic feeding centers of adult mice. Because reliable commercial antibodies for many pathway proteins are currently unavailable, making immunolabelling studies difficult, we utilized a dual-labeling *in situ* hybridization approach which allowed for sensitive detection of hedgehog pathway gene transcripts in specific adult neurons. Our *in situ* data revealed the broad expression of *Shh* and core pathway components throughout the hypothalamus of adult mice. We found that mRNA for *Shh*, *Ptch1*, *Smo*, *Gli1*, and *Gpr161* could be detected in both the ARC and PVN. Within the ARC, each one of these transcripts are detected in neurons co-expressing *Pomc* or *Agrp*. While a similar labeling pattern was observed in the PVN, transcripts for hedgehog pathway genes were more readily found colabeled with probes to *Mchr1* than *Mc4r*. However, this could potentially be due to the relatively low abundance of MC4R expressing neurons or low mRNA expression for this particular GPCR. Our results expand upon prior studies which found hedgehog pathway expression in the adult rat brain (37-39) by demonstrating that neurons in two nuclei of the hypothalamus important for regulation of

feeding behavior express *Shh* and members of its signaling pathway. Somewhat surprisingly, we also found that *Gpr161* is expressed abundantly throughout both the ARC and PVN. This is contrary to previously published findings which used digoxigenin probes *for in situ* analysis of the adult mouse brain and showed a more restricted expression pattern of *Gpr161* in the nucleus accumbens and amygdala with low hypothalamic expression (47). Analysis of the amygdala and accumbens was outside the scope of the present study, and relative expression of *Gpr161* between these brain regions was not determined. However, a thorough understanding of this GPCR negative regulator of hedgehog signaling in the adult brain may reveal themes for its roles in cilia mediated behaviors.

Interestingly, in both the ARC and PVN we observed cells with high expression of either *Ptch1* or *Gli1* immediately adjacent to neurons expressing *Pomc*, *Agrp*, or *Mchr1*. By colabeling sections of hypothalamus with probes to *Gfap* and *Gli1* or *Ptch1 we* were able to identify some of these hedgehog responsive cells as *Gfap* positive astrocytes. While neurons of the adult mouse hypothalamus express *Shh* and components required for its signal transduction, the cells which are most responsive to hedgehog signaling, as indicated by high levels of *Gli1* and *Ptch1* expression, may in fact be astrocytes. This supports previous findings which showed that not only do neurons produce *Shh*, but subpopulations of mature astrocytes in the forebrain are responsive to hedgehog signaling (43). It remains unclear why these *Gfap* positive cells outside of known neurogenic niches exhibit high levels of *Gli1* and *Ptch1* relative to neighboring neurons.

There is growing evidence suggesting that the hedgehog pathway is involved in regulation of whole-body energy homeostasis. It has been demonstrated in both the fat-body of drosophila and adipose tissue of mice that hedgehog signaling regulates adipocyte differentiation (48, 49). Circulating forms of Hedgehog have been detected and during drosophila larval development shown to be secreted from the gut and act on multiple tissues to coordinate development with nutrient availability (50, 51). Given these findings, we also analyzed the expression of *Shh*, *Smo*, and *Gli1* in the adult mouse hypothalamus in response to changes in metabolic state and nutritional status. We compared transcriptional regulation of the hedgehog pathway in both lean, control diet fed animals and obese, HFD fed animals. Animals fed a HFD are a well-established model of non-insulin dependent type II diabetes which exhibit many hallmarks of metabolic dysfunction such as reduced glucose tolerance (52, 53). In the whole hypothalamus, expression of *Gli1* was

upregulated in lean mice following an overnight fast. Congruent with this finding, expression of *Ptch1* exhibited on non-significant upregulation in lean, fasted animals. In contrast, we observed no significant transcriptional regulation in the hypothalamus of fasted obese animals compared to fed controls. These data suggest that hedgehog signaling is involved in the physiological response to fasting and may be dysregulated in obese animals. To determine if this fasting-induced upregulation of *Gli1* is a response generated by the whole hypothalamus or specific nuclei, micropunches were collected from hypothalamic nuclei as well as the cortex. We found that in fasted animals *Gli1* expression was elevated specifically in the VMH, PVN, and to a lesser extent the cortex, but not the ARC. These data suggest that increased hedgehog pathway activity upon fasting in the hypothalamus is primarily driven by the VMH and PVN. Future studies will determine the cell types responsible within these nuclei for this increase in *Gli1* expression. Additional work is also required to determine the source of pathway activation observed in these studies. It is possible ligand is produced outside of the hypothalamus, therefore, further analysis could potentially reveal the primary source of *Shh* following an overnight fast.

Taken as a whole, this data shows that neurons of the hypothalamus express both *Shh* and members of its signaling pathway required for signal transduction and that activity of this pathway is upregulated in response to fasting in discrete hypothalamic nuclei. Given our *in situ* data identifying astrocytes as being highly positive for *Gli1* and *Ptch1* in the hypothalamus, it is possible that astrocytes or other support cells are primarily responsible for this fasting induced upregulation of hedgehog signaling. We have previously shown in primary hypothalamic cultures consisting of both neurons and glia, that modulation of the hedgehog pathway alters the electrophysiological response to melanin-concentrating hormone (18). Interestingly, it has also been demonstrated in primary cortical cultures that the presence of astrocytes alters the response of neurons to agonism of the hedgehog pathway (54). Furthermore, astrocyte specific inhibition of hedgehog signaling *in vivo* was shown to disrupt early postnatal organization and remodeling of cortical synapses resulting in increased neuronal excitability (44). Together, these findings suggest novel potential roles for hedgehog signaling outside of its roles as a classical developmental morphogen or in stem cell niche regulation.

The data presented here on the expression and transcriptional regulation of the hedgehog pathway in the adult mouse hypothalamus lays the foundation for future mechanistic studies to determine its role in the proper functioning of the hypothalamus. Given that mammalian hedgehog signaling is coordinated by primary cilia, our future studies will focus on how hypothalamic hedgehog expression may contribute to the obesity phenotype seen in ciliopathies such as Bardet-Biedl syndrome and Alström syndrome (2, 3). Interestingly, certain ciliopathy clinical features such as skeletal and external genitalia abnormalities are also observed in patients with genetic defects in the hedgehog pathway (4-8). Therefore, it would be of interest to determine whether hedgehog signaling is dysregulated in the hypothalamus of animal ciliopathy models. Further mechanistic studies are needed to determine whether hedgehog signaling modulates neuronal activity critical for the physiological response to fasting and if genetic modulation of the hedgehog pathway in the hypothalamus alters feeding behavior. In conclusion, elucidating the involvement of this developmentally important signaling pathway to explore. Greater understanding of the hedgehog pathway in adult energy homeostasis may also reveal common themes for this pathway in regulation of other behaviors.

3.5 Acknowledgements

The following people are co-authors of this manuscript: Staci E. Engle, Kathryn M. Brewer, Nicolas F. Berbari

3.6 References

- 1. J. F. Reiter, M. R. Leroux, Genes and molecular pathways underpinning ciliopathies. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **18**, 533-547 (2017).
- 2. E. Forsythe, J. Kenny, C. Bacchelli, P. L. Beales, Managing Bardet-Biedl Syndrome-Now and in the Future. *Front Pediatr* **6**, 23 (2018).
- 3. J. D. Marshall, P. Maffei, G. B. Collin, J. K. Naggert, Alstrom syndrome: genetics and clinical overview. *Curr Genomics* **12**, 225-235 (2011).
- 4. F. Umehara *et al.*, A novel mutation of desert hedgehog in a patient with 46,XY partial gonadal dysgenesis accompanied by minifascicular neuropathy. *Am J Hum Genet* **67**, 1302-1305 (2000).
- 5. B. Gao *et al.*, Mutations in IHH, encoding Indian hedgehog, cause brachydactyly type A-1. *Nat Genet* **28**, 386-388 (2001).

- 6. J. Hellemans *et al.*, Homozygous mutations in IHH cause acrocapitofemoral dysplasia, an autosomal recessive disorder with cone-shaped epiphyses in hands and hips. *Am J Hum Genet* **72**, 1040-1046 (2003).
- 7. S. Mujahid *et al.*, The Endocrine and Metabolic Characteristics of a Large Bardet-Biedl Syndrome Clinic Population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **103**, 1834-1841 (2018).
- 8. S. Khan *et al.*, BBS5 and INPP5E mutations associated with ciliopathy disorders in families from Pakistan. *Ann Hum Genet* **83**, 477-482 (2019).
- 9. J. L. Alessandri *et al.*, RAB23 mutation in a large family from Comoros Islands with Carpenter syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* **152A**, 982-986 (2010).
- D. Jenkins *et al.*, RAB23 mutations in Carpenter syndrome imply an unexpected role for hedgehog signaling in cranial-suture development and obesity. *Am J Hum Genet* 80, 1162-1170 (2007).
- 11. J. R. Davenport *et al.*, Disruption of intraflagellar transport in adult mice leads to obesity and slow-onset cystic kidney disease. *Curr Biol* **17**, 1586-1594 (2007).
- 12. J. E. Siljee *et al.*, Subcellular localization of MC4R with ADCY3 at neuronal primary cilia underlies a common pathway for genetic predisposition to obesity. *Nat Genet* **50**, 180-185 (2018).
- 13. L. Wang *et al.*, Ciliary gene RPGRIP1L is required for hypothalamic arcuate neuron development. *JCI Insight* **4** (2019).
- 14. M. Rouabhi *et al.*, BBSome Ablation in SF1 Neurons Causes Obesity without the Comorbidities. *Mol Metab* 10.1016/j.molmet.2021.101211, 101211 (2021).
- 15. J. S. Sun *et al.*, Ventromedial hypothalamic primary cilia control energy and skeletal homeostasis. *J Clin Invest* **131** (2021).
- N. F. Berbari, A. D. Johnson, J. S. Lewis, C. C. Askwith, K. Mykytyn, Identification of ciliary localization sequences within the third intracellular loop of G protein-coupled receptors. *Mol Biol Cell* 19, 1540-1547 (2008).
- 17. A. V. Loktev, P. K. Jackson, Neuropeptide Y family receptors traffic via the Bardet-Biedl syndrome pathway to signal in neuronal primary cilia. *Cell Rep* **5**, 1316-1329 (2013).
- 18. R. Bansal *et al.*, Hedgehog Pathway Activation Alters Ciliary Signaling in Primary Hypothalamic Cultures. *Front Cell Neurosci* **13**, 266 (2019).
- 19. D. Huangfu *et al.*, Hedgehog signalling in the mouse requires intraflagellar transport proteins. *Nature* **426**, 83-87 (2003).
- 20. M. Gorivodsky *et al.*, Intraflagellar transport protein 172 is essential for primary cilia formation and plays a vital role in patterning the mammalian brain. *Dev Biol* **325**, 24-32 (2009).
- M. A. Willaredt *et al.*, A crucial role for primary cilia in cortical morphogenesis. J Neurosci 28, 12887-12900 (2008).
- R. W. Stottmann, P. V. Tran, A. Turbe-Doan, D. R. Beier, Ttc21b is required to restrict sonic hedgehog activity in the developing mouse forebrain. *Dev Biol* 335, 166-178 (2009).

- 23. P. V. Tran *et al.*, THM1 negatively modulates mouse sonic hedgehog signal transduction and affects retrograde intraflagellar transport in cilia. *Nat Genet* **40**, 403-410 (2008).
- 24. C. J. Haycraft *et al.*, Gli2 and Gli3 localize to cilia and require the intraflagellar transport protein polaris for processing and function. *PLoS Genet* **1**, e53 (2005).
- 25. R. Rohatgi, L. Milenkovic, M. P. Scott, Patched1 regulates hedgehog signaling at the primary cilium. *Science* **317**, 372-376 (2007).
- 26. K. C. Corbit *et al.*, Vertebrate Smoothened functions at the primary cilium. *Nature* **437**, 1018-1021 (2005).
- M. Fuccillo, A. L. Joyner, G. Fishell, Morphogen to mitogen: the multiple roles of hedgehog signalling in vertebrate neural development. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 7, 772-783 (2006).
- C. B. Bai, D. Stephen, A. L. Joyner, All mouse ventral spinal cord patterning by hedgehog is Gli dependent and involves an activator function of Gli3. *Dev Cell* 6, 103-115 (2004).
- 29. V. Marigo, C. J. Tabin, Regulation of patched by sonic hedgehog in the developing neural tube. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**, 9346-9351 (1996).
- 30. Y. Chen, G. Struhl, Dual roles for patched in sequestering and transducing Hedgehog. *Cell* **87**, 553-563 (1996).
- 31. S. Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, The ciliary G-protein-coupled receptor Gpr161 negatively regulates the Sonic hedgehog pathway via cAMP signaling. *Cell* **152**, 210-223 (2013).
- 32. R. Machold *et al.*, Sonic hedgehog is required for progenitor cell maintenance in telencephalic stem cell niches. *Neuron* **39**, 937-950 (2003).
- 33. J. J. Breunig *et al.*, Primary cilia regulate hippocampal neurogenesis by mediating sonic hedgehog signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 13127-13132 (2008).
- 34. Y. G. Han *et al.*, Hedgehog signaling and primary cilia are required for the formation of adult neural stem cells. *Nat Neurosci* **11**, 277-284 (2008).
- 35. C. Vaillant, D. Monard, SHH pathway and cerebellar development. *Cerebellum* **8**, 291-301 (2009).
- 36. V. V. Chizhikov *et al.*, Cilia proteins control cerebellar morphogenesis by promoting expansion of the granule progenitor pool. *J Neurosci* **27**, 9780-9789 (2007).
- S. B. Banerjee *et al.*, Recruitment of the Sonic hedgehog signalling cascade in electroconvulsive seizure-mediated regulation of adult rat hippocampal neurogenesis. *Eur J Neurosci* 22, 1570-1580 (2005).
- E. Traiffort, D. A. Charytoniuk, H. Faure, M. Ruat, Regional distribution of Sonic Hedgehog, patched, and smoothened mRNA in the adult rat brain. *J Neurochem* 70, 1327-1330 (1998).
- 39. E. Traiffort *et al.*, Discrete localizations of hedgehog signalling components in the developing and adult rat nervous system. *Eur J Neurosci* **11**, 3199-3214 (1999).

- 40. E. Traiffort, K. L. Moya, H. Faure, R. Hassig, M. Ruat, High expression and anterograde axonal transport of aminoterminal sonic hedgehog in the adult hamster brain. *Eur J Neurosci* 14, 839-850 (2001).
- 41. S. E. Engle *et al.*, A CreER mouse to study melanin concentrating hormone signaling in the developing brain. *Genesis* **56**, e23217 (2018).
- 42. B. F. Belgardt, T. Okamura, J. C. Bruning, Hormone and glucose signalling in POMC and AgRP neurons. *J Physiol* **587**, 5305-5314 (2009).
- 43. A. D. Garcia, R. Petrova, L. Eng, A. L. Joyner, Sonic hedgehog regulates discrete populations of astrocytes in the adult mouse forebrain. *J Neurosci* **30**, 13597-13608 (2010).
- 44. S. A. Hill *et al.*, Sonic hedgehog signaling in astrocytes mediates cell type-specific synaptic organization. *Elife* **8** (2019).
- 45. C. C. Harwell *et al.*, Sonic hedgehog expression in corticofugal projection neurons directs cortical microcircuit formation. *Neuron* **73**, 1116-1126 (2012).
- 46. S. E. Engle, R. Bansal, P. J. Antonellis, N. F. Berbari, Cilia signaling and obesity. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **110**, 43-50 (2021).
- 47. A. T. Ehrlich *et al.*, Expression map of 78 brain-expressed mouse orphan GPCRs provides a translational resource for neuropsychiatric research. *Commun Biol* **1**, 102 (2018).
- 48. J. M. Suh *et al.*, Hedgehog signaling plays a conserved role in inhibiting fat formation. *Cell Metab* **3**, 25-34 (2006).
- 49. J. A. Pospisilik *et al.*, Drosophila genome-wide obesity screen reveals hedgehog as a determinant of brown versus white adipose cell fate. *Cell* **140**, 148-160 (2010).
- 50. J. Rodenfels *et al.*, Production of systemically circulating Hedgehog by the intestine couples nutrition to growth and development. *Genes Dev* **28**, 2636-2651 (2014).
- 51. W. Palm *et al.*, Secretion and signaling activities of lipoprotein-associated hedgehog and non-sterol-modified hedgehog in flies and mammals. *PLoS Biol* **11**, e1001505 (2013).
- D. A. Fontaine, D. B. Davis, Attention to Background Strain Is Essential for Metabolic Research: C57BL/6 and the International Knockout Mouse Consortium. *Diabetes* 65, 25-33 (2016).
- 53. R. S. Surwit, C. M. Kuhn, C. Cochrane, J. A. McCubbin, M. N. Feinglos, Diet-induced type II diabetes in C57BL/6J mice. *Diabetes* **37**, 1163-1167 (1988).
- C. I. Ugbode, I. Smith, B. J. Whalley, W. D. Hirst, M. Rattray, Sonic hedgehog signalling mediates astrocyte crosstalk with neurons to confer neuroprotection. *J Neurochem* 142, 429-443 (2017).

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Endocrine FGFs in adult energy homeostasis

The endocrine FGFs have well described roles in the regulation of metabolic processes in adults. Two family members, FGF19 and FGF21, have shown similar effects on whole body metabolism. Both FGF19 and FGF21, when either overexpressed or administered pharmacologically in mice results in increased metabolic rates, improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, and reduced body weight (1-4). Due to these beneficial metabolic effects, FGF19 and FGF21 have been pursued as therapeutics for the treatment of metabolic disease such as obesity and its comorbidities. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is a subset of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). NASH is characterized by steatosis, lobular inflammation, cellular ballooning and fibrosis and can lead to cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (5). Indeed, in animal models of NASH, treatment with FGF19 and FGF21 analogs have demonstrated improvements in pathological features such as steatosis (6, 7).

While FGF19 and FGF21 exhibit similar pharmacological effect there are distinct differences in the biological function of these two related proteins. FGF15/19 is produced in the ileum where it signals to the liver to inhibit bile acid synthesis in the post-prandial state (8). FGF21 is expressed in the liver where it is upregulated in response to metabolic stressors such as fasting, glucose challenge and protein restriction (9-11). FGF21 signals to adipose where it enhances glucose and lipid uptake as well as stimulating adipogenesis and reducing lipolysis (2, 12-14). It has also been shown that central action of FGF21 is able to mediate its metabolic effects such as modulation of food intake and energy expenditure (15, 16). The disparate biological effects of FGF15/19 and FGF21 are likely due to differing receptor complexes which mediate their signaling. While both FGF15/19 and FGF21 require the presence of the co-factor β -Klotho (KLB) to signal, they exhibit differing functional interactions with FGFR/ β -Klotho complexes (17, 18). FGF21 has high affinity for FGFR1 and to a lesser extent FGFR3, whereas FGF19 has high affinity for FGFR4 but is also able to activate FGFR1 (19, 20). The FGFR1/KLB complex is expressed in regions of the brain and in adipocytes while the FGFR4/KLB complex is expressed in hepatocytes (20, 21). Biologically, the primary sites of action of FGF21 are adipose tissue and the CNS, while FGF19 acts in a paracrine fashion on hepatocytes.

The data presented here on the role of UCP1 in the pharmacological effect of FGF19 supports the contention that activation of adipose tissue mediates specific aspects of FGF19 pharmacology. We demonstrate that FGF19 treatment does not induce whole-body thermogenesis or insulin stimulated glucose disposal in brown adipose tissue in UCP1KO animals. This suggests that these pharmacologic effects of FGF19 treatment require the action of UCP1, potentially through FGFR1 activation. Somewhat surprisingly, we found that UCP1KO animals lose the same amount of body weight compared to wild type animals following FGF19 treatment. Importantly, we found that in response to FGF19 treatment UCP1KO animals exhibited an enhanced suppression of bile acids and increased fecal energy content compared to wild type animals. This suggests that impaired lipid uptake in the gut due to inhibition of bile acid synthesis contributed to the effect of FGF19 on body weight.

FGF15/19 signaling also has a described role in hepatocyte proliferation and has been linked to the development of HCC. It has been demonstrated that animals treated with FGF19 exhibit hepatocyte proliferation and that this effect is mediated by FGFR4 activation (22, 23). Furthermore, animals overexpressing FGF19 develop HCC (24). Therefore, a comprehensive understanding of the biology and signaling requirements of FGF19 will greatly aid in avoiding potential mitogenic risks of FGF19 based therapeutics for NASH. Indeed, an engineered variant of FGF19 has been generated which does not induce cell proliferation through the STAT3 pathway while maintaining FGFR4 activity (25). In an animal model of NASH, treatment with this FGF19 variant leads to improvements in steatohepatitis and fibrosis while avoiding tumor formation observed with wild type FGF19 (26).

4.2 Hedgehog signaling in the adult hypothalamus

Our work described here provides detailed characterization of the expression of core components of the hedgehog signaling pathway in the adult hypothalamus. Previous studies found that certain hedgehog pathway components are expressed in the adult rat hypothalamus (27, 28). However, through the use of dual labelling *in situ* hybridization, we are able to expand upon these findings by showing that neurons within specific nuclei of the hypothalamus important for regulation of feeding behavior express *Shh* and members of its signaling pathway. We also assessed the expression of a recently described negative regulator of hedgehog signaling, *Gpr161*,

which has been previously reported to have a somewhat restricted expression pattern in the nucleus accumbens and amygdala with low hypothalamic expression (29). In contrast to these findings, we found that *Gpr161* is expressed abundantly throughout both the ARC and PVN. We also identify cells responsive to hedgehog signaling, as indicated by high levels of *Gli1* and *Ptch1*. By colabeling with probes to *Gfap*, a marker for astrocytes, we were able to identify some of these hedgehog responsive cells as *Gfap* positive astrocytes. Overall these findings support previous studies in the forebrain which showed that neurons produce *Shh* while subpopulations of mature astrocytes are responsive to hedgehog signaling (30).

To determine whether the hedgehog pathway is involved in the functioning of the adult hypothalamus *in vivo*, we measured transcriptional activity via qPCR following an overnight fast. Indeed, we found that expression of *Gli1* was significantly upregulated in the hypothalamus of fasted animals compared to fed animals. Interestingly, the same upregulation of *Gli1* following an overnight fast was not observed in the hypothalamus of obese animals fed a high fat diet. Furthermore, through analysis of micropunches from specific hypothalamic nuclei we found that the upregulation of *Gli1* expression in response to an overnight fast is driven primarily by the VMH and PVN. These findings suggest that hypothalamic hedgehog signaling is upregulated in response to fasting in a nuclei-specific manor and may be dysregulated in obese animals.

Overall, these findings provide strong evidence that the hedgehog pathway is both expressed and active in the adult mouse hypothalamus. These observations suggest that hedgehog signaling is required in the biological functioning of the adult hypothalamus, however its mechanistic role is yet to be determined. Additionally, this work does not address the potential source of pathway activation. While we observed that neurons do indeed express *Shh*, we did not detect an upregulation of *Shh* expression in the fasted state. It is possible that ligand originates from brain regions outside the hypothalamus or even peripheral tissues. Therefore, a much more comprehensive characterization of *Shh* both centrally and peripherally would need to be performed. It should be noted that while ligand-independent activation of Gli1 has been observed, this has been primarily seen in cancer tissues (31).

This work identifies astrocytes within the hypothalamus as being responsive to hedgehog signaling, as well as the VMH and PVN as specific nuclei within the hypothalamus exhibiting

pathway activation in response to fasting. Future work will be directed at understanding which cell types within the PVN and VMH are mediating this transcriptional response. Specifically, it would be of interest to determine whether astrocytes within the VMH and PVN are responsible for hedgehog pathway transcriptional activity following a fast. This could potentially be assessed using commercially available fluorescent in situ assays. The *in situs* performed in these studies were chromogenic, which is semi-quantitative, and limited to labelling of two probes at a time. Fluorescent multiplex in situs can co-label up to 4 probes, which would allow for detection of *Gli1* transcripts within the PVN and VMH in both neurons and astrocytes. Furthermore, artificial intelligence-based analysis currently in use in the lab would greatly aid in cell type specific quantification. Another potential avenue to address this question would be to perform flow cytometry to separate astrocytes and neurons followed by qPCR. Such studies would need to be performed using hypothalamic micropunches, so material availability would need to be considered.

Another interesting finding was that obese animals fed a high fat diet do not exhibit the hypothalamic transcriptional upregulation of the Hh pathway observed in lean animals. This suggests that Hh pathway dysregulation contributes to obesity. However, these studies were unable to determine whether alteration in Hh signaling in the hypothalamus is a secondary consequence to the obese phenotype. In order to understand whether changes in central Hh signaling alter feeding behavior and energy homeostasis, experiments utilizing mouse ciliopathy models or genetic modulation of pathway components can be pursued. As previously discussed, hedgehog signaling is dependent on the primary cilia in mammals, therefore it would also be of interest to perform characterization studies in ciliopathy and cilia loss animal models. Multiple animal models of Bardet-Biedl syndrome such as Bbs2, Bbs4, and Bbs6 KO mice recapitulate characteristics of the human syndrome including hyperphagia and obesity (32-34). Additionally, our lab and others have used a ubiquitously-expressed, tamoxifen-inducible Cre recombinase (CAGCreER) crossed to a conditional null allele of IFT88 to systemically disrupt cilia. When whole body cilia loss is induced in adult mice they become hyperphagic and obese (35-37). Characterization of hypothalamic hedgehog signaling in these models before and after the onset of obesity would help to determine whether dysregulation of hedgehog signaling due to cilia defects contributes to the obesity phenotype of these animals.

In addition to having a more detailed understanding of regional and cell type hedgehog pathway activity, it will be important to determine the functional consequence of pathway activation. Specifically, whether hedgehog signaling in the hypothalamus regulates neuronal activity. Using primary hypothalamic cultures, which consist of both neurons and glia, we have previously shown that modulation of the hedgehog pathway alters the electrophysiological response to melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) (38). This is congruent with earlier studies using primary cortical cultures which showed that the presence of astrocytes alters the response of neurons to agonism of the hedgehog pathway (39). Electrophysiological recordings from brain slices could be performed to further elucidate whether the hedgehog pathway impacts neuronal activity. Neuronal activity can be measured following either treatment with hedgehog pathway activators and inhibitors alone, or pretreatment with hedgehog pathway modulators followed by application of signaling peptides such as MCH. Such studies would provide insight into the role of hedgehog signaling in the regulation of electrophysiological activity in the hypothalamus.

Perhaps one of the most important questions to be addressed is whether alterations in hypothalamic hedgehog signaling effects energy homeostasis and feeding behavior *in vivo*. Due to the developmental and post-natal role of Shh in the nervous system it would be beneficial to use genetic, inducible animal models to modulate hedgehog signaling. Because our findings show that transcriptional activity of the hedgehog pathway is highest in the VMH and PVN following a fast, future studies will focus on these brain regions. As discussed in previous sections MCHR1 is a ciliary GPCR that is expressed in the hypothalamus and is known to regulate feeding behavior and energy homeostasis (40). Our lab has generated and previously described a transgenic mouse where the Mchr1 promotor drives expression of tamoxifen inducible CreER recombinase (41). To assess the effect of cilia loss on *Mchr1* expressing neurons, this transgenic animal can be crossed with the IFT88 floxed allele. Phenotypic characterization could then be performed to assess impacts on feeding behavior and energy homeostasis. Additionally, characterization of transcriptional regulation of the hedgehog pathway and electrophysiological activity of the hypothalamus via the methods previously discussed could also be performed. The Mchr1-CreER model can also be used to genetically modulate the hedgehog pathway in *Mchr1* positive neurons. For example, activation of the hedgehog pathway can be achieved by crossing the Mchr1-CreER line to a line carrying an inducible, constitutively active form of Smo (SmoM2) (42). In the resulting animals Smo activity can be conditionally induced in *Mchr1* positive neurons. Once again phenotypic profiling as well as interrogation on the effects on hypothalamic hedgehog signaling will be performed. In addition to the hypothalamus, *Mchr1* is expressed in many brain regions including the striatum, hippocampus, and amygdala and has been shown to be involved in the regulation of anxiety, learning and memory (43-47). Therefore, interpretation of these studies will have to consider potential contributions of *Mchr1* activity outside of the hypothalamus. Furthermore, additional behavioral phenotyping of animals generated using the Mchr1-CreER line would likely need to be performed.

Another potential avenue of research would be to determine whether hedgehog signaling alters the ciliary localization of other GPCRs. As mentioned previously, when smoothened is knocked out from olfactory sensory neurons, cilia localization of odorant GPCRs is altered (48). Therefore, it is possible that changes in hedgehog signaling alter the cilia localization of GPCRs known to be involved in feeding behavior and energy homeostasis, such as Mchr1. One way to investigate this would be to measure ciliary localization of Mchr1 in brain sections from SmoM2 Mchr1-CreER animals by performing immunofluorescent labelling studies. Similar studies could be performed to assess localization of other ciliary GCPCRs following genetic or pharmacologic manipulation of the hedgehog pathway.

The role of hedgehog signaling in metabolic tissues such as the pancreas and adipose is related to its function in the maintenance of progenitor cell niches. It is possible that hedgehog signaling modulates the functioning of the hypothalamus through regulation of neurogenesis. In the adult brain, neurogenesis has been shown to occur in the hippocampus where granule-cell precursors (GCPs) in the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) generate new granule cells, the excitatory neurons of the DG (49). Neurogenesis also occurs in the subventricular zone (SVZ), the area immediately adjacent to the lateral ventricles, where progenitor cells differentiate into new interneurons that reach the olfactory bulb (50). In both the SGZ and SVZ, GFAP positive progenitors have been identified as major contributors to neurogenesis (51-53). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that hedgehog signaling regulates neural progenitors in the SGZ. Post-natal neurogenesis is enhanced by increases in hedgehog signaling while it is inhibited by reductions in hedgehog signaling (54, 55).

More recently, it has been shown that neurogenesis occurs in the adult hypothalamus and that it can be stimulated by neurogenic factors (56-58). The neural precursor cells of the hypothalamus have been identified by the expression of neural stem cell markers as tanycytes, some of which express GFAP (59-61). Tanycytes are radial-glial like cells located in the adult hypothalamic ventricular zone (60). Genetic, in vivo cell fate mapping studies have shown that tanycytes are capable of self-renewal and differentiation into other cell types, including mature neurons (61-63). Of particular significance, it has been demonstrated that changes in metabolic state such as feeding animals a high fat diet and physical activity alters the rate of neurogenesis in the hypothalamus (64-67). Additionally, intermittent fasting has been shown to induce neurogenesis in the hippocampus and is associated with increased memory in mice (68-70). It would be of interest to characterize neurogenesis in the hypothalamus of intermittently fasted mice and whether there are associated changes in the hedgehog pathway. Furthermore, because we observed GFAP positive, hedgehog responsive cells we could also investigate whether these cells contribute to any observed neurogenesis. This could be accomplished by performing BRDU labelling studies using GFAPCreER animals crossed to a reporter allele to label GFAP positive cells (71). This GFAPCreER line could also be used to explore the importance of hedgehog signaling in GFAP positive cells in the hypothalamic control of fasting.

These future mechanistic studies will help to elucidate potential roles of cilia mediated Hh signaling in the hypothalamic regulation of energy homeostasis. Importantly, these studies will determine whether Hh pathway dysfunction in feeding centers of the brain contributes to obesity. Insights such as these could potentially lead to novel therapeutic targets for the treatment of syndromic and non-syndromic forms of obesity.

4.3 References

- 1. E. Tomlinson *et al.*, Transgenic mice expressing human fibroblast growth factor-19 display increased metabolic rate and decreased adiposity. *Endocrinology* **143**, 1741-1747 (2002).
- 2. A. Kharitonenkov *et al.*, FGF-21 as a novel metabolic regulator. *J Clin Invest* **115**, 1627-1635 (2005).
- 3. T. Coskun *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 corrects obesity in mice. *Endocrinology* **149**, 6018-6027 (2008).

- 4. L. Fu *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 19 increases metabolic rate and reverses dietary and leptin-deficient diabetes. *Endocrinology* **145**, 2594-2603 (2004).
- 5. M. Benedict, X. Zhang, Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: An expanded review. *World J Hepatol* **9**, 715-732 (2017).
- 6. J. H. Lee *et al.*, An engineered FGF21 variant, LY2405319, can prevent non-alcoholic steatohepatitis by enhancing hepatic mitochondrial function. *Am J Transl Res* **8**, 4750-4763 (2016).
- 7. G. Alvarez-Sola *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 15/19 (FGF15/19) protects from dietinduced hepatic steatosis: development of an FGF19-based chimeric molecule to promote fatty liver regeneration. *Gut* **66**, 1818-1828 (2017).
- 8. M. Choi *et al.*, Identification of a hormonal basis for gallbladder filling. *Nat Med* **12**, 1253-1255 (2006).
- 9. T. Inagaki *et al.*, Endocrine regulation of the fasting response by PPARalpha-mediated induction of fibroblast growth factor 21. *Cell Metab* **5**, 415-425 (2007).
- 10. A. Iroz *et al.*, A Specific ChREBP and PPARalpha Cross-Talk Is Required for the Glucose-Mediated FGF21 Response. *Cell Rep* **21**, 403-416 (2017).
- 11. T. Laeger *et al.*, FGF21 is an endocrine signal of protein restriction. *J Clin Invest* **124**, 3913-3922 (2014).
- 12. W. Chen *et al.*, Growth hormone induces hepatic production of fibroblast growth factor 21 through a mechanism dependent on lipolysis in adipocytes. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 34559-34566 (2011).
- 13. C. Schlein *et al.*, FGF21 Lowers Plasma Triglycerides by Accelerating Lipoprotein Catabolism in White and Brown Adipose Tissues. *Cell Metab* **23**, 441-453 (2016).
- 14. P. A. Dutchak *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor-21 regulates PPARgamma activity and the antidiabetic actions of thiazolidinediones. *Cell* **148**, 556-567 (2012).
- 15. B. M. Owen *et al.*, FGF21 acts centrally to induce sympathetic nerve activity, energy expenditure, and weight loss. *Cell Metab* **20**, 670-677 (2014).
- 16. D. A. Sarruf *et al.*, Fibroblast growth factor 21 action in the brain increases energy expenditure and insulin sensitivity in obese rats. *Diabetes* **59**, 1817-1824 (2010).
- 17. B. C. Lin, M. Wang, C. Blackmore, L. R. Desnoyers, Liver-specific activities of FGF19 require Klotho beta. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 27277-27284 (2007).
- 18. Y. Ogawa *et al.*, BetaKlotho is required for metabolic activity of fibroblast growth factor 21. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 7432-7437 (2007).
- 19. M. Suzuki *et al.*, betaKlotho is required for fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 21 signaling through FGF receptor (FGFR) 1c and FGFR3c. *Mol Endocrinol* **22**, 1006-1014 (2008).
- H. Kurosu *et al.*, Tissue-specific expression of betaKlotho and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor isoforms determines metabolic activity of FGF19 and FGF21. *J Biol Chem* 282, 26687-26695 (2007).

- 21. K. Fon Tacer *et al.*, Research resource: Comprehensive expression atlas of the fibroblast growth factor system in adult mouse. *Mol Endocrinol* **24**, 2050-2064 (2010).
- 22. X. Wu *et al.*, FGF19-induced hepatocyte proliferation is mediated through FGFR4 activation. *J Biol Chem* **285**, 5165-5170 (2010).
- 23. A. L. Wu *et al.*, FGF19 regulates cell proliferation, glucose and bile acid metabolism via FGFR4-dependent and independent pathways. *PLoS One* **6**, e17868 (2011).
- K. Nicholes *et al.*, A mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma: ectopic expression of fibroblast growth factor 19 in skeletal muscle of transgenic mice. *Am J Pathol* 160, 2295-2307 (2002).
- 25. M. Zhou *et al.*, Separating Tumorigenicity from Bile Acid Regulatory Activity for Endocrine Hormone FGF19. *Cancer Res* **74**, 3306-3316 (2014).
- 26. M. Zhou *et al.*, Engineered FGF19 eliminates bile acid toxicity and lipotoxicity leading to resolution of steatohepatitis and fibrosis in mice. *Hepatol Commun* **1**, 1024-1042 (2017).
- E. Traiffort, D. A. Charytoniuk, H. Faure, M. Ruat, Regional distribution of Sonic Hedgehog, patched, and smoothened mRNA in the adult rat brain. *J Neurochem* 70, 1327-1330 (1998).
- 28. E. Traiffort *et al.*, Discrete localizations of hedgehog signalling components in the developing and adult rat nervous system. *Eur J Neurosci* **11**, 3199-3214 (1999).
- 29. A. T. Ehrlich *et al.*, Expression map of 78 brain-expressed mouse orphan GPCRs provides a translational resource for neuropsychiatric research. *Commun Biol* **1**, 102 (2018).
- A. D. Garcia, R. Petrova, L. Eng, A. L. Joyner, Sonic hedgehog regulates discrete populations of astrocytes in the adult mouse forebrain. *J Neurosci* 30, 13597-13608 (2010).
- 31. A. M. Skoda *et al.*, The role of the Hedgehog signaling pathway in cancer: A comprehensive review. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci* **18**, 8-20 (2018).
- 32. D. Y. Nishimura *et al.*, Bbs2-null mice have neurosensory deficits, a defect in social dominance, and retinopathy associated with mislocalization of rhodopsin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 16588-16593 (2004).
- 33. M. A. Fath *et al.*, Mkks-null mice have a phenotype resembling Bardet-Biedl syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet* **14**, 1109-1118 (2005).
- 34. K. Mykytyn *et al.*, Bardet-Biedl syndrome type 4 (BBS4)-null mice implicate Bbs4 in flagella formation but not global cilia assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 8664-8669 (2004).
- 35. J. R. Davenport *et al.*, Disruption of intraflagellar transport in adult mice leads to obesity and slow-onset cystic kidney disease. *Curr Biol* **17**, 1586-1594 (2007).
- 36. W. R. Lewis *et al.*, Mks6 mutations reveal tissue- and cell type-specific roles for the cilia transition zone. *FASEB J* **33**, 1440-1455 (2019).
- 37. N. F. Berbari *et al.*, Leptin resistance is a secondary consequence of the obesity in ciliopathy mutant mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, 7796-7801 (2013).

- 38. R. Bansal *et al.*, Hedgehog Pathway Activation Alters Ciliary Signaling in Primary Hypothalamic Cultures. *Front Cell Neurosci* **13**, 266 (2019).
- C. I. Ugbode, I. Smith, B. J. Whalley, W. D. Hirst, M. Rattray, Sonic hedgehog signalling mediates astrocyte crosstalk with neurons to confer neuroprotection. *J Neurochem* 142, 429-443 (2017).
- 40. N. F. Berbari, J. S. Lewis, G. A. Bishop, C. C. Askwith, K. Mykytyn, Bardet-Biedl syndrome proteins are required for the localization of G protein-coupled receptors to primary cilia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 4242-4246 (2008).
- 41. S. E. Engle *et al.*, A CreER mouse to study melanin concentrating hormone signaling in the developing brain. *Genesis* **56**, e23217 (2018).
- 42. J. Jeong, J. Mao, T. Tenzen, A. H. Kottmann, A. P. McMahon, Hedgehog signaling in the neural crest cells regulates the patterning and growth of facial primordia. *Genes Dev* 18, 937-951 (2004).
- 43. Y. Saito, M. Cheng, F. M. Leslie, O. Civelli, Expression of the melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) receptor mRNA in the rat brain. *J Comp Neurol* **435**, 26-40 (2001).
- 44. G. B. Diniz *et al.*, Ciliary melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1 (MCHR1) is widely distributed in the murine CNS in a sex-independent manner. *J Neurosci Res* **98**, 2045-2071 (2020).
- 45. M. Roy *et al.*, Genetic inactivation of melanin-concentrating hormone receptor subtype 1 (MCHR1) in mice exerts anxiolytic-like behavioral effects. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 112-120 (2006).
- A. Adamantidis *et al.*, Disrupting the melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1 in mice leads to cognitive deficits and alterations of NMDA receptor function. *Eur J Neurosci* 21, 2837-2844 (2005).
- D. G. Smith *et al.*, Melanin-concentrating hormone-1 receptor modulates neuroendocrine, behavioral, and corticolimbic neurochemical stress responses in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **31**, 1135-1145 (2006).
- 48. D. K. Maurya, S. Bohm, M. Alenius, Hedgehog signaling regulates ciliary localization of mouse odorant receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **114**, E9386-E9394 (2017).
- 49. G. Kempermann, H. Song, F. H. Gage, Neurogenesis in the Adult Hippocampus. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **7**, a018812 (2015).
- 50. D. A. Lim, A. Alvarez-Buylla, The Adult Ventricular-Subventricular Zone (V-SVZ) and Olfactory Bulb (OB) Neurogenesis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **8** (2016).
- 51. A. D. Garcia, N. B. Doan, T. Imura, T. G. Bush, M. V. Sofroniew, GFAP-expressing progenitors are the principal source of constitutive neurogenesis in adult mouse forebrain. *Nat Neurosci* **7**, 1233-1241 (2004).
- F. Doetsch, I. Caille, D. A. Lim, J. M. Garcia-Verdugo, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. *Cell* 97, 703-716 (1999).

- 53. B. Seri, J. M. Garcia-Verdugo, B. S. McEwen, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Astrocytes give rise to new neurons in the adult mammalian hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **21**, 7153-7160 (2001).
- 54. K. Lai, B. K. Kaspar, F. H. Gage, D. V. Schaffer, Sonic hedgehog regulates adult neural progenitor proliferation in vitro and in vivo. *Nat Neurosci* **6**, 21-27 (2003).
- 55. Y. G. Han *et al.*, Hedgehog signaling and primary cilia are required for the formation of adult neural stem cells. *Nat Neurosci* **11**, 277-284 (2008).
- 56. M. V. Kokoeva, H. Yin, J. S. Flier, Neurogenesis in the hypothalamus of adult mice: potential role in energy balance. *Science* **310**, 679-683 (2005).
- 57. V. Pencea, K. D. Bingaman, S. J. Wiegand, M. B. Luskin, Infusion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor into the lateral ventricle of the adult rat leads to new neurons in the parenchyma of the striatum, septum, thalamus, and hypothalamus. *J Neurosci* **21**, 6706-6717 (2001).
- 58. M. V. Kokoeva, H. Yin, J. S. Flier, Evidence for constitutive neural cell proliferation in the adult murine hypothalamus. *J Comp Neurol* **505**, 209-220 (2007).
- 59. D. A. Lee *et al.*, Tanycytes of the hypothalamic median eminence form a diet-responsive neurogenic niche. *Nat Neurosci* **15**, 700-702 (2012).
- 60. E. M. Rodriguez *et al.*, Hypothalamic tanycytes: a key component of brain-endocrine interaction. *Int Rev Cytol* **247**, 89-164 (2005).
- 61. S. C. Robins *et al.*, alpha-Tanycytes of the adult hypothalamic third ventricle include distinct populations of FGF-responsive neural progenitors. *Nat Commun* **4**, 2049 (2013).
- 62. N. Haan *et al.*, Fgf10-expressing tanycytes add new neurons to the appetite/energybalance regulating centers of the postnatal and adult hypothalamus. *J Neurosci* **33**, 6170-6180 (2013).
- 63. A. Jourdon *et al.*, Prss56, a novel marker of adult neurogenesis in the mouse brain. *Brain Struct Funct* **221**, 4411-4427 (2016).
- 64. D. E. McNay, N. Briancon, M. V. Kokoeva, E. Maratos-Flier, J. S. Flier, Remodeling of the arcuate nucleus energy-balance circuit is inhibited in obese mice. *J Clin Invest* **122**, 142-152 (2012).
- 65. L. F. Nascimento *et al.*, n-3 Fatty Acids Induce Neurogenesis of Predominantly POMC-Expressing Cells in the Hypothalamus. *Diabetes* **65**, 673-686 (2016).
- 66. J. Li, Y. Tang, D. Cai, IKKbeta/NF-kappaB disrupts adult hypothalamic neural stem cells to mediate a neurodegenerative mechanism of dietary obesity and pre-diabetes. *Nat Cell Biol* 14, 999-1012 (2012).
- 67. A. Niwa *et al.*, Voluntary exercise induces neurogenesis in the hypothalamus and ependymal lining of the third ventricle. *Brain Struct Funct* **221**, 1653-1666 (2016).
- 68. S. H. Baik, V. Rajeev, D. Y. Fann, D. G. Jo, T. V. Arumugam, Intermittent fasting increases adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Brain Behav* **10**, e01444 (2020).
- 69. G. P. Dias *et al.*, Intermittent fasting enhances long-term memory consolidation, adult hippocampal neurogenesis, and expression of longevity gene Klotho. *Mol Psychiatry* 10.1038/s41380-021-01102-4 (2021).

- S. Manzanero *et al.*, Intermittent fasting attenuates increases in neurogenesis after ischemia and reperfusion and improves recovery. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 34, 897-905 (2014).
- 71. Y. M. Ganat *et al.*, Early postnatal astroglial cells produce multilineage precursors and neural stem cells in vivo. *J Neurosci* **26**, 8609-8621 (2006).